I the Ralamazoo County Circuit Court
For the State of Michigan

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS
CORPORATION,

Plaintiff,

V.

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC,
MICHAEL GOODE, and
DOES 1-10,

Defendants.

HARDER LLP

Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593)
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116)

132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor
Beverly Hills, California 90212

(424) 203-1600

charder@harderilp.com
jsusman@harderllp.com

Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors
Pro Hac Vice Pending

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE &
KENNEDY, LLP

H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920)

146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

(616) 451-8496

hpinsky@psfklaw.com

Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ
HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY

gre w o r
i

JUN § 72018 |

TR JuDi L CEOUR
COUNTY OF KALAWIAZOO
KALAMAZOO, ICHIGAN

BUTZEL LONG, P.C.

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902)
Doaa K. Al-Howaishy (P82089)
Stoneridge West

41000 Woodward Avenue
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304
(248) 258-1616

richotte@butzel.com

al-howaishy@butzel.com
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode

MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION OF
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT



Defendants MorningLightMountain, LLC (“MLM?) and Michael Goode
ask the Court to dismiss the First Amended Complaint with prejudice for failure to

state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Respectfully submitted,

% UTZEL L m
Dated: JUNE 6, 2018 / §% (&

]&S‘LZPH IE)RICHBTT E (P70902)
DOAA K. AL-HOWAISHY (P82089)
Stoneridge West

41000 Woodward Avenue

Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304
(248) 258-1616

richotte@butzel.com

al-howaishy@butzel.com
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode




An the Kalamazoo County Circuit Court
For the State of Michigan

SCOTTSDALE CAPITAL ADVISORS
CORPORATION,

Plaintiff,

Vi

MORNINGLIGHTMOUNTAIN, LLC,
MICHAEL GOODE, and
DOES 1-10,

Defendants.

HARDER LLP

Charles J. Harder (CA# 184593)
Jordan D. Susman (CA# 246116)

132 South Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor
Beverly Hills, California 90212

(424) 203-1600

charder@harderllp.com
jsusman@harderllp.com

Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors
Pro Hac Vice Pending

PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE &
KENNEDY, LLP

H. Rhett Pinsky (P18920)

146 Monroe Center St., NW, Suite 805
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503

(616) 451-8496

hpinsky@psfklaw.com

Counsel for Scottsdale Capital Advisors

Civil No. 18-0153-CZ
HON. ALEXANDER C. LIPSEY

BUTZEL LONG, P.C.

Joseph E. Richotte (P70902)
Doaa K. Al-Howaishy (P82089)
Stoneridge West

41000 Woodward Avenue
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304
(248) 258-1616
richotte@butzel.com

al-howaishy@butzel.com
Counsel for MLM and Michael Goode

MEMORANDUM SUPPORTING
MOTION FOR SUMMARY DISPOSITION OF
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT



TABLE OF CONTENTS
INDEX OF ALFTHORITTIS .o mmmmmensensosrrmesssssrssssrassamsmsmsstsis i

101 0b A 9Dl o6 4 11 1) I —————— Vi
QUESTIONS PRESENTED ......coovurirnrrernnrieeieeeeesessseeeseessessessessesssssssssssesssess D
INTRODUCTION........cvuuiririrniinirinsnsiessssessesssssssssssssssessseessessssssessessesssessessass s 1

SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR
FIRST AMENDMENT CASES.....coooioiiereeeereseeeeeeseeeesseseseesssessessessesssssssssss 3

L UL |, L —————————— 7

1. No Defamation: Scottsdale has not plausibly pleaded the elements for
libel as to any of the allegedly defamatory statements.............ccvververrererrerennn 7

A. Fault Not Pleaded: The Complaint fails to plead facts establishing that
MLM and Mr. Goode acted negligently.........c.euucveveereneeerseesraeneesennns 7

B. April Article: None of the three statements identified in the April
Article adequately pleads a claim for libel ..........coovvevevevreececnrrerreeenennne. )

(1) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that
Statement No. 115 falS€.....c.ocvuverrrerverniisrerernesseseeeesenssssnnns 9

(2) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show
that Statement No. 2 is false or capable of defamatory
MEANING ....vvveevirerscreeerraesesesensessesssssssessesesessassssesssssssassessesens 10

(3) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show
that Statement No. 3 is false or capable of defamatory
meaning; and the statement is protected by the
e PVIleEE s wampprassEB R RS REss 1D

C. June Article: The statement identified in the June Article does
not support a claim for defamation, either ...........ccocevvvvevvverecvennennes 12

2. No False Light: The Complaint does not adequately plead a claim for
invasion of privacy by false Hght ........ccceeeureureerreeercresee e, 14



A. No Corporate Right to Privacy. Corporations cannot assert a
claim for invasion of privacy because they have no legal right to
DEIVAC Y uvsscs ivsissiassnmsass axsnssrensmnssransenrensuvssiesmmss sonesiss sossssvssunesisioss sasnseniss 14

B. No Private Facts. The challenged statements are all about
matters of public record, which cannot support a privacy claim........ 10

C. No False Statement. Scottsdale does not adequately allege that
the: challenped statementsars Bt s 19

D. No Actual Malice Pleaded. Scottsdale does not adequately allege
that MLM and Mr. Goode published the challenged statements
WD AL TEL NG HEO. i i i rssmrersseamss e eatss 15

3. Dismissal with Prejudice: Scottsdale cannot cure the flaws in the Complaint by
further aMendment ..........c.eueuimueerveciee et eeese s s esssase s 16

ot



INDEX OF AUTHORITIES

CASES
Allegheny-Ludlam Corp. v. Mzckzgan Dept of Treas.,

207 Mich. App. 604 (1994).... RS T
Asheroft v. Igbal,

o BN v R 1L S ————————— 6
Booth Newspapers, Inc. v. Kent County Treas.,

LES MieHE PP, 2B (LI} rassosnsvssomsininsinss ieoriis sisiisinmmsensassresmmsmmosemy s e e 14
Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union,

466 U8, 4B5 (1984).;0imiiisssssssinissssainmansmassonasanssmsensmsessrmassansessassasesesssnessssmsnssssnsens 6
Croton v. Gillis,

104 Mich. APP. 104 (1981) ....cevvueureererrrerieisecesseeseseesssssesseseseesesessesesessssens ;13
Dalley v. Dykema Gossett,

287 Mich. ADPP. 296 (2010)......crerrererrerrrereersieseeesessssssssessssessesesesesssesessessesesssssanes 6
Doe v. Mills,

212 Mich. APD. 73 (1995) c.eereeirerriireieeiere et sseesseseeseees s eesesees s s s 15

Early Detection Ctr., P.C. v. New York Life Ins. Co.,
157 Mich. App: B18 (1988) ...concsimmssimmommmsiasssismninimusssis 18

Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union,
192 kel Ay TR NONLY . covuonuvminnsinins s o o i RS AR sbi e smemnsssd B B

Ireland v. Edwards,
230 Mich, App. 607 (1998 simsisiasismsisinisiisssmsssmemensnesnessessapmmpprsrmamrensreevern By 15

Kevorkian v. American Med. Ass’n,
237 MiCh. ADD. 1 (1999) ...cimimreereerietrirereeressesssessesssesssessesesesesessaesesssssssesssssssnees 6

Locricchio v. Evening News Ass’n,
438 MCh. 84 (1991) ..ottt s e sss s sessesens 11

Nehls v. Hillsdale Coll.,
178 F. Supp. 2d 771 (ED Mich. 2001) ...ovovuerreerreecreieeiecreeeienseeeseesesseseseseeseesnens 7

=4 =



Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press,
213 Nichy, App . 317 (1995) cccvspnspomnsssssini

Rouch v. Enquirer & News (After Remand),

) e 38 L1990 s snmsmnnioims s e o s aenssssasmessyss

Sanders v. Evening News Ass’n,
313 Mich. 334 (1946} s coveversossivans

Singerman v. Municipal Serv. Bureau,

455 Mich. 135 (1997) ..o

Slater v. Ann Arbor Pub. Sch. Bd. of Educ.,

250 Mich. App. 419 (2002) w....eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeessesssssssssssssseeo

Thomas M. Cooley Law School v. Doe 1,

300 Mich. App. 245 (2013) ...

STATUTES

31U.S.C. § 3512(2)(2)(G) weorrerrrreereseeeeeeeeseeeesesseseeseeeesssssssssssesssss

31U.S.C. §3518....coirrirereeerene.

MG LS GO0 IO ocinissssonsrmmammmesreemsemormerssmm s

REGULATIONS

LG BB 1023320 iisiiisiisnmmmreserssmssnmassasarsmseessmassonsassmnssrssasssssannas

RULES
MCR 2.110(A) covvvvvveereeeeeen
MCR 2.116(G)(5) weovrrrrrrrrrrrs

TREATISES

R. Sack, Defamation § 12:3.5 {bthied, Z018).cummmsnsssinasni
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 6521 Comment ¢ (1997) ....ccevvevvveverreererneee.

N

----------------

w18

...................... 12

...................... 13

.. 14
..14



OTHER AUTHORITIES

Mich. Civ. J. Instr. 10.02

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



ANSWER
EXHIBIT

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

DESCRIPTION

A

Tavella Complaint, R. 1 (SDNY Jul. 3, 2013)

Tavella Stipulation & Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset Freeze, and
Other Relief, R. 16 (SDNY Jul. 16, 2013)

Tavella Biozoom Fair Fund Notice

Tavella Final ]. Defs. Graciarena & Loureyro, R. 67
(SDNY Dec. 8, 2014)

Tavella Final Default J. & Order Granting Inj. and Other Relief Against
Defs. Tavella, Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, Lorenzo, Bagattin, Gold-
man, and Ferrari, R. 69 (SDNY Jan. 9, 2015)

In the Matter of Timothy C. Scarpino, Order Instituting Admin. and
Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing Remedial
Sanctions, and a Cease-and-Desist Order (May 15, 2018)

FINRA v. Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., Am. Extended Hr’g Panel
Decision (Jun. 20, 2017)



QUESTIONS PRESENTED

This is a defamation action. As a matter of constitutional law, all torts predi-
cated upon defamation, including invasion-of-privacy claims, must satisfy a special,
heightened pleading standard that demands detailed facts supporting each element of

the claim.

UESTIONNO. 1:  Has Scottsdale satisfied the special, heightened pleading re-
P g p
quirements required under constitutional law for its defama-
tion claim?

QUESTION NO. 2:  Corporate entities like Scottsdale have no legally cognizable
right to privacy. Should the Court dismiss Scottsdale’s pri-
vacy claim for failure to state a proper claim?

QUESTION NO. 3:  If not, has Scottsdale satisfied the special, heightened plead-

ing requirements required under constitutional law for its
defamation-based privacy claim?

—vii -



Under MCR 2.116(C)(8), MLM and Mr. Goode offer this Memorandum in
support of their Motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint (“Complaint”)
with prejudice on summary disposition for failure to state a claim upon which relief

can be granted.

INTRODUCTION

This is a defamation action. Scottsdale has sued MLM and Mr. Goode for al-
legedly libelous statements posted in online articles at goodetrades.com, a blog re-
porting on news about penny-stock trading.

A “penny stock” refers to a security issued by a very small company that
trades at less than $5.00 per share.! Also known as “microcap stocks,” penny stocks
are issued by companies, many of which do not file financial reports with the U.S.
Securities & Exchange Commission.? The SEC describes these securities as “among
the most risky,” suffering from a scarcity of publicly-available information that allows
“fraudsters [to] easily spread false information about microcap companies, making
profits while creating losses for unsuspecting investors.”? They are very speculative
investments, and Congress has tightly regulated broker-dealers who facilitate penny-
stock trading under the Exchange Act.*

One fraud particularly affecting penny stocks is the classic pump-and-dump

scheme. The scheme involves touting a company’s stock through false and mislead-

1 U.S. Secs. & Exch. Comm’n, Penny Stock Rules (May 9, 2013) (“PENNY
STOCK RULES”) (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Penny-Stock-Rules).

2 United States Secs. & Exch. Comm’n, Microcap Stock: A Guide for Investors,
Introduction (Sept. 13, 2013) (“Microcap Guide”) (available at http://bit.ly/ SEC-
Micro cap-Guide).

3 Id.
4 PENNY STOCK RULES, supra at n.1

-



ing statements to the marketplace to ignite a buying frenzy that “pumps” the price of
a stock (usually a penny stock). The hucksters then sell (or “dump”) their stocks at
the “pumped” up price, realizing a handsome profit. Once they dump their shares
and stop hyping the stock, the price falls and investors lose their money.’

MLM and Mr. Goode reported on pump-and-dump schemes, including one
involving stock in Biozoom, which was touted as a biomedical technology company.
Before April 2013, Biozoom was known as Entertainment Art, Inc., and it produced
leather bags. In April 2013, it announced that it was changing its name to Biozoom
and exiting the leather-bag business to develop biomedical technology. From March
2013 (the month before the announcement) to June 2013, at least eight people opened
accounts with broker-dealers and deposited millions of shares of Biozoom that they
(falsely) claimed were purchased from the original shareholders of Entertainment Art
in the previous few months and could be freely traded.® From May 16, 2013 to June
17, 2013, these people sold 14 million shares yielding almost $34 million, of which
nearly $17 million was wired to overseas bank accounts.” Eventually, the stock col-
lapsed. The SEC brought an enforcement action, U. S. Securities & Exchange Comm’n
v. Tavella, to recover the ill-gotten gains and make swindled investors whole.?

Scottsdale, a broker-dealer that facilitated penny-stock trading and claims to

be one of the dominant companies in the microcap securities market for handling

> U.S. Secs. & Exch. Comm’n, “Pump-and-Dumps” and Market Manipula-
tions (Jun. 25, 2013) (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Pump-and-Dumps).

¢ Answer Exh. A, U.S. Secs. & Exch. Comm’n v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609
(SDNY), Complaint at 2, 9 3-5 (Jul. 3, 2013).

7 Id. at 2-3, 9 6-7.

8  See Answer Exh. C, Tavella Biozoom Fair Fund Notice at 2, Plan of Allocation
(“’The purpose of this distribution is to compensate investors in the [ 7avella] defend-
ants misrepresentations and omissions in its sale of Biozoom common stock.”)

o



more than $125 million worth of trades in 2015 alone,? accepted Biozoom stocks for
deposit and facilitated trading in the microcap market. Many of the trading accounts
frozen through the SEC’s enforcement action were held at Scottsdale.!® And, notably,
since Scottsdale filed this lawsuit against MLM and Mr. Goode, the SEC entered an
order sanctioning Scottsdale’s representative Timothy Scarpino for facilitating the
sale of 8.2 million Biozoom shares that generated $18.5 million in gains—just over
half the shares and half the gains—for the fraudsters."! His offense was “fail[ing] to
conduct a searching inquiry into facts surrounding the proposed sales” of unregis-
tered Biozoom stock, despite the presence of “significant red flags.”12

Among other things, it was this same kind of failure to conduct searching in-
quiries that resulted in the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority taking discipli-
nary action against Scottsdale.’* FINRA imposed a $1.5 million fine against Scotts-
dale for “institutionaliz[ing] misconduct as its standard way of doing business,”

among other aggravating factors.! Part of the institutionalized misconduct included

9 Complaint at 3, q 11.

10 Answer Exh. B, U. S. Secs. & Exch. Comm’n v. Tavella, Civ. No. 13-4609
(SDNY), Stipulation and Order Granting Prelim. Inj., Asset Freeze, and Other Relief
(R. 16, Jul. 16, 2013); Answer Exh. D, Final ]J. Defs. Graciarena and Loureyro (R. 67,
Dec. 8, 2014); Answer Exh. E, Final Default J. and Order Granting Inj. and Other
Relief Against Defendants Tavella, Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, Lorenzo, Bagattin,
Goldman, and Ferrari (R. 69, Jan. 9, 2015).

1 Answer Exh. F, In the Matter of Timothy C. Scarpino, SEC No. 3-18483, Order
Instituting Admin. and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings, Making Findings, Imposing
Remedial Sanctions, and a Cease-and-Desist Order (May 15, 2018).

12 Id. at 2, Part III, Summary.

B Answer Exh. G, FINRA v. Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corp., No. 2014041724
601, Amended Extended Hr’g Panel Decision (Jun. 20, 2017) (available at http://
bit.ly/FINRA-Panel-Decision).

4[4, at 107, Part IV(A)(3).



Scottsdale’s failure to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions
after botching its gatekeeping role in the Biozoom pump-and-dump scheme that led
to the SEC’s enforcement action.’

FINRA had equally harsh words for Scottsdale’s owner, John Hurry. FINRA
found that he “violat[ed] his duty to observe high standards of commercial honor and
just and equitable principles of trade,” and it was “purposeful and egregious,” which
led FINRA to conclude that “[he] is a threat to investors and the integrity of the mar-
kets.”¢ Worse yet, FINRA found that Mr. Hurry “repeatedly testified falsely, and
that there was a pattern of doing so when he thought no contradictory evidence would
come to light.”?” FINRA barred Mr. Hurry from associating with any other FINRA
member for any reason.!® Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry are appealing this decision.

Which brings us to this lawsuit. The statements that Scottsdale claims are li-
belous are contained within two articles written by Mr. Goode and published by MLM
about three years after the Biozoom fraud. (The articles are attached to the Com-
plaint, and are therefore “a part of the pleading for all purposes.”) Both articles
include extensive quotations from FINRA proceedings, SEC press releases, and court
records from SEC enforcement actions. They also include links and citations to those
source records.

The first article (the “April Article”) reported on FINRA’s sanctions against
Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry. The second article (the “June Article”) was a follow-up

article about FINRA’s 111-page decision and new SEC enforcement action against

5 Id. at11-12,101-102, 104.

16 Id. at 107, Part IV(B).

17 Ibid.

18 Jd. at 108.

¥ Slater v. Ann Arbor Pub. Sch. Bd. of Educ., 250 Mich. App. 419, 427 (2002).

sl



another company with close ties to Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry. Scottsdale doesn’t ar-
gue that the reporting about the FINRA and SEC actions is inaccurate. Rather, it
plucks a few sentences from the articles and claims that they wrongfully accuse it of
actively engaging in a pump-and-dump scheme. In context, however, the articles do
nothing more than note that penny stocks were illegally traded through Scottsdale
brokerage accounts. And the notion that these articles damaged Scottsdale in any
way—much less in some way unique and independent of (#) FINRA castigating and
fining Scottsdale, (/) FINRA excommunicating Mr. Hurry from the securities indus-
try, and (¢) the SEC’s Biozoom enforcement actions—is risible.

This lawsuit is about one thing: shutting down free speech. It is commonly
known as a “strategic lawsuit against public participation.” It is brought with the in-
tent to censor the speaker’s message because it is unwanted, not because it is false or
defamatory. But the First Amendment no more allows a “litigation veto” than it does
a “heckler’s veto.”

For the reasons that follow, the Court should dismiss the Complaint with prej-

udice for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

SPECIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR
FIRST AMENDMENT CASES

As in all cases, motions for summary disposition brought under MCR
2.116(C)(8) in defamation actions test the legal sufficiency of the complaint.2® The
Court must limit its review to the pleadings—which by court rule includes both the

complaint and the answer.?! The Court must take the well-pleaded factual allegations

20 Singerman v. Municipal Serv. Bureau, 455 Mich. 135, 139 (1997).

21 MCR 2.116(G)(5) (review of a (C)(8) motion is limited to the pleadings);
MCR 2.110(A) (defining a pleading to include complaints and answers).

B



as true and construe them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.??

Importantly, however, under Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, courts have a spe-
cial, heightened duty under the First Amendment to review the sufficiency of the al-
legations and evidence before them in defamation actions because of the constitu-
tional implications for free speech.?® Michigan courts take this duty seriously. Recog-
nizing that summary disposition is “an essential tool” to protect against “forbidden
intrusions into the field of free expression,”2* our courts long ago adopted an Igbal-
like pleading standard that requires plaintiffs to specifically plead: (1) the defamatory
words and the facts that would establish that the words are false; (2) the facts identi-
fying the publication of those words to a third party; (3) the level of fault that must be
proved and the facts that would establish that the speaker acted with that level of fault;
and (4) the harm suffered by the publication.?® Pleading specific facts is a “relatively
simple requirement”; defendants are entitled to summary disposition under MCR
2.116(C)(8) “on this ground alone” when plaintiffs fail to follow it.?¢

Also important, in Thomas M. Cooley Law School v. Doe 1, the Michigan Court
of Appeals held that the heightened pleading requirement in defamation cases per-
mits courts to resolve several questions of law on the pleadings, including: (1)

whether a statement is capable of being defamatory; (2) the nature of the speaker

22 Dalley v. Dykema Gossett, 287 Mich. App. 296, 304-305 (2010).
23 Bose Corp. v. Consumers Union, 466 U. S. 485 (1984).

24 Kevorkian v. American Med. Ass’n, 237 Mich. App. 1, 5 (1999) (citing Ireland
v. Edwards, 230 Mich. App. 607, 613 and n.4 (1998)).

2 Gonyea v. Motor Parts Fed. Credit Union, 192 Mich. App 74, 76-77 (1991). Ac-
cord Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U. S. 662 (2009) (requiring plaintiffs in federal cases to
“plausibly” plead claims through specific factual allegations).

26 Rouchv. Enquirer & News (After Remand), 440 Mich. 238, 279 (1992) (“Rouch
IP’) (Riley, J., concurring).



and the level of constitutional protections afforded to the statement; and (3)
whether actual malice exists, if the plaintiff is required to show that level of fault.?”
In making these assessments, a court must read the challenged statement in context,
fairly and reasonably construing the entire article to determine whether the chal-
lenged statement is libelous.?® A statement “does not become actionable merely be-

cause it could be taken out of context.”?’

ARGUMENT

The Complaint does not state a claim under the heightened pleading stand-
ard for defamation cases. And, from what is pleaded, the Court can hold that the

challenged statements are incapable of a defamatory meaning as a matter of law.

1. No Defamation: Scottsdale has not plausibly pleaded the elements for
libel as to any of the allegedly defamatory statements.

In Michigan, a libel plaintiff must prove that the defendant: (1) made a false
statement, (2) that was defamatory, (3) which was “of and concerning the plaintiff,
(4) in the form of an unprivileged publication to a third party, (5) with a level of fault
amounting to at least negligence on the part of the publisher, and (6) thereby dam-

aged the plaintiff.?

A.  Fault Not Pleaded: The Complaint fails to plead facts establishing
that MLM and Mr. Goode acted negligently.

To adequately plead fault, a plaintiff must identify the level of fault that ap-

27 Thomas M. Cooley Law School v. Doe 1,300 Mich. App. 245, 342 (2013).

28 Sandersv. Evening News Ass’n, 313 Mich. 334, 340 (1946); Crotonv. Gillis, 104
Mich. App. 104, 108 (1981).

29 Nehls v. Hillsdale Coll., 178 F. Supp. 2d 771, 779 (ED Mich. 2001), aff’d 65
Fed. Appx. 984 (CA6 2003) (citing Michigan law).

30 Northland Wheels Roller Skating Ctr. v. Detroit Free Press, 213 Mich. App. 317,
323 (1995) (citing Rouch IT ).



plies to the claim a#d allege facts that would establish that level of fault if proved.3!
There are two levels of fault: negligence and actual malice.?? The negligence stand-
ard applies in cases involving private figures; the actual-malice standard applies in
cases involving public officials and public figures.® Scottsdale alleges that it is a pri-
vate figure and that MLM and Mr. Goode are the direct and proximate cause of its
damages,* so it impliedly pleads the level of fault to be negligence.

Negligence is defined as the failure to use the care that an ordinary person
would use under the circumstances.*> Thus, in order to meet the Igbal-like pleading
standard, Scottsdale must plead facts as to what a reasonable reporter and publisher
would have done under the circumstances and then plead that MLLM and Mr. Goode
failed to do it. It does not do this for any of the challenged statements in either of
the two articles.

To the extent that Scottsdale apparently tries to plead actual malice in the
alternative— “notwithstanding [its] status as a private figure, . . . [MLM and Mr.
Goode] knew that the [challenged statements] were false and/or acted in reckless
disregard of whether [they] were true or false” —the Complaint is likewise devoid
of any factual allegations supporting zow they knew the statements were false or why
they were reckless in their alleged disregard of the truth.

Under Rouch 11, a failure to plead both the level of fault that must be proved
and the facts that would establish that the speaker acted with that level of fault entitles

MLM and Mr. Goode to summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) “on this

31 Gonyea, 192 Mich. App. at 76-77; Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279.
32 Ibid.

33 Ibid.

3% Complaint at 6, q 25.

35 Mich. Civ. J. Instr. 10.02



ground alone.”3¢ The failure to plead any facts supporting negligence or actual malice

is fatal to the Complaint.

B.  April Article: None of the three statements identified in the April
Article adequately pleads a claim for libel.

(1)  Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that
Statement No. 1 is false.

If you have followed penny stocks and pump and dumps for
a few years then you know Scottsdale Capital Advisors.

To be actionable, the challenged statement must be false.?” Scottsdale has not
plausibly pleaded that Statement No. 1in the April Article is false.

Not False. Scottsdale alleges that Statement No. 1 is false because it has
“never been involved in any ‘pump and dump’ schemes, has never been a defendant
in any ‘pump and dump’ lawsuits, and has never been convicted of engaging in
‘pump and dump’ activity.”3® But, on its face, Statement No. 1 doesn’t accuse
Scottsdale of any of these things. It simply says that those who have followed pump-
and-dumps know about Scottsdale. And that statement is true by Scottsdale’s own
allegations. It admits that it’s a broker-dealer in penny stocks.*® It also admits that
accounts traded through Scottsdale were frozen in connection with the Biozoom
pump-and-dump scheme.*? It is factually accurate to note that observant readers,
who have followed news about pump-and-dumps (particularly the “big Biozoom

pump”’) would be familiar with Scottsdale’s name.*

36 Rouch II, 440 Mich. at 279 (Riley, J., concurring).

37 Northland Wheels, 213 Mich. App. at 323.

38 First Am. Compl. at 4, unnumbered paragraph immediately after q 13a.
2 Jd 4t 3,11,

40 Id. at 4,  13c and unnumbered paragraph immediately thereafter.

4 Id atExh.1,q1.



(2) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that
Statement No. 2 is false or capable of defamatory meaning.

They are one of the few brokers left that have continued to allow the
deposit and sale of shares of illiquid penny stocks. Larger brokers
and discount brokers stopped allowing that over five years ago.

Scottsdale has failed to plausibly plead a claim for libel based on this state-
ment because it is neither false nor defamatory.

Not False. Statement No. 2 says that Scottsdale is one of the few brokers that
still allow both the deposit and trade of penny stock. Scottsdale says Statement No.
2 is false because many other brokers still trade in penny stocks.*? But there is a
difference between trading existing shares of penny stocks and accepting the deposit
of new shares. Scottsdale does not allege that any of the brokers it identifies in the
Complaint accept the deposit of new penny stocks. Thus, it has not pleaded facts
showing that Statement No. 2 is false.

Not Defamatory. In any event, nothing about Statement No. 2 is defamatory.
It does not say or imply that there is anything illegal or improper about accepting
the deposit of shares of penny stocks. Indeed, the statement acknowledges that a
few other brokers do, in fact, accept penny stocks for deposit. It simply notes that
most brokers have exited this segment of the securities market. There is nothing

defamatory in stating that Scottsdale and a few others continue to serve a niche area.

(3) Scottsdale has not pleaded facts sufficient to show that
Statement No. 3 is false or capable of defamatory meaning;
and the statement is protected by the fair-report privilege.

“When the big Biozoom (BIZM) pump happened back in 2013
many of the frozen accounts were at Scottsdale Capital. ”

Scottsdale has likewise failed to plausibly plead a claim for libel based on this

statement because it too is neither false nor defamatory. The statement is also pro-

42 Id. at 4, unnumbered paragraph immediately after q 13b.
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tected under the statutory fair-report privilege.

Not False. Statement No. 3 says that “many of the frozen [Biozoom] ac-
counts” were at Scottsdale. Scottsdale alleges that this is false for two reasons, but
both reasons are non-sequiturs.

First, Scottsdale says that “only a handful” of Scottsdale accounts were fro-
zen because of the Biozoom scam.* This may well be true—and the Court must
accept this allegation as true for purposes of this Motion—but that isn’t what MLM
and Mr. Goode said. They said that “many of the frozen accounts” were at Scotts-
dale. While the number of frozen accounts might represent a small percentage of
Scottsdale’s overall brokerage accounts, they represent “many” of the accounts fro-
zen in the Biozoom enforcement litigation. Tellingly, Scottsdale does not allege oth-
erwise.

Second, Scottsdale says it has “never been a defendant in any lawsuit involv-
ing the trading of Biozoom stock.”#* Even accepting this as true, Statement No. 3
doesn’t say that Scottsdale was sued in connection with the Biozoom scam. It simply
notes that accounts at Scottsdale were frozen.

Not Defamatory. A defamatory communication is one that “tends so to
harm the reputation of persons so as to lower them in the estimation of the commu-
nity or to deter others from associating or dealing with them.” 4 Publishing the mere
fact that accounts were frozen at Scottsdale is not defamatory. Criminals frequently
use third parties to facilitate their wrongdoing. Embezzlers may deposit their ill-got-
ten gains in bank accounts. When the government learns of the theft, it seizes the

funds in the bank accounts for restitution and other purposes. No one would ever

4 Id. at 4, unnumbered paragraph immediately after q 13c.
4 Ibid.
% Locricchio v. Evening News Ass’n, 438 Mich. 84, 115 (1991).
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credibly argue that a newspaper reporting on such seizures defames the bank. Here,
the brokerage accounts and the funds acquired from trading Biozoom stocks are like
the embezzled funds and Scottsdale is like the bank. Reporting that Biozoom ac-
counts at Scottsdale were frozen in connection with a pump-and-dump scheme no
more lowers Scottsdale’s reputation in the community than it would lower the
bank’s reputation.

Privileged Statement. Finally, Statement No. 3 is protected by the statutory
fair-report privilege, which provides: “Damages shall not be awarded in a libel ac-
tion for the publication or broadcast of a fair and true report of matters of public record
....7% The U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York froze the de-
fendants’ Biozoom accounts in connection with the SEC’s enforcement action in
Tavella.*” Most of the Tavella defendants had trading accounts at Scottsdale for Bi-
ozoom stock that were frozen and/or recovered.*® Accordingly, the statement is a

fair and true report of a matter of public record. It is not actionable.

C.  June Article: The statement identified in the June Article does not
support a claim for defamation, either.

Lest anyone think that these are just minor paperwork deficien-
cies with no real consequences, I remind you that one pump and
dump alone, Biozoom (BIZM) led to over $17 million in fraud-
ulent profits for manipulators/insiders, and many of their ac-
counts were at Scottsdale Capital.

Scottsdale plucks this sentence out of a three-page article without regard for

its context. As noted earlier, the Court must fairly and reasonably construe the en-

4 MCL 600.2911(3) (emphases added).

47 Answer at 7-8, Answer to Compl. q 13, and Answer Exhs. A-E. (The exhib-
its are part of the pleadings under MCR 2.113(F)(2)). See also Slater, 250 Mich. App.
at 427.

48 Answer at 7-8, Answer to Compl. q 13, and Answer Exhs. A-E.
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tire article to determine whether a statement is libelous.*

The challenged statement in the June Article comes after quoting excerpts
from FINRA’s disciplinary order against Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry for doing an ex-
ceedingly poor job at preventing illegal sales by penny-stock insiders.>® The state-
ment also follows extended excerpts from an SEC press release and the SEC’s law-
suit against Scottsdale-affiliate Alpine Securities Corporation, which cleared thou-
sands of suspicious deposits of penny stock introduced by Scottsdale.’* The Patriot
Act requires broker-dealers to monitor and report suspicious trading activity to help
crack down on money laundering.5? Charging Scottsdale’s affiliate with thousands
of reporting violations, the SEC alleged in its complaint that Scottsdale’s affiliate
routinely and systematically failed to file Suspicious Activity Reports (“SARs”)
with the U.S. Treasury Department’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network for
stock transactions that the affiliate had internally flagged as suspicious.*®* And, when
it did file SARs, the affiliates allegedly omitted the very information that formed the
bases for knowing, suspecting, or having reason to suspect that a transaction was

suspicious.>*

49 Sanders, 313 Mich. at 340; Croton, 104 Mich. App. at 108.
0 Complaint Exh. 2 at 1-2.

U Ibid (citing U. S. Secs. & Exch. Comm’n v. Alpine Secs. Corp., No. 17-04179
(SDNY) (R. 1, Compl., Jun. 5, 2017), and quoting SEC Litig. Release No. 23853
(Jun. 5, 2017) (available at http://bit.ly/SEC-Alpine-Litigation-Release).

52 31 U.S.C. §§ 3512(a)(2)(G) and 3518; 31 C.F.R. § 1023.320.
53 Complaint Exh. 2 at 2.

¢ Ibid. Interestingly, although not offered in support of the Motion because it
is beyond the pleadings, a federal court has since ruled that the SARs, when filed,

were so “woefully inadequate” as a matter of law as to warrant partial summary
judgment for the government. Alpine Secs. Corp., No. 17-04179 (SDNY), Order on
Mot. for Summ. J., R. 101 at 65 (Mar. 30, 2018).
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The challenged statement must be assessed against this backdrop. By failing
to investigate and report suspicious activity, opportunities are lost to prevent crim-
inal activity, including securities fraud. The challenged statement gives an example
of how investors lost tens of millions of dollars to securities fraud when a broker-
dealer was asleep at the switch. It contains nothing false. Given the FINRA discipli-
nary action, Scottsdale has an adjudicated track record of failing to diligently inves-
tigate penny stocks before accepting them for deposit, which in the case of Biozoom
permitted fraudsters to steal almost $34 million from investors through trading fa-
cilitated by Scottsdale. On this point, it is noteworthy that Scottsdale has #oz alleged
that the first sentence in the June Article is false: “As I wrote back in April, FINRA
fined Scottsdale Capital Advisors $1.5 million for doing a really poor job at preventing

illegal sales by penny stock insiders.” >

2.  No False Light: The Complaint does not adequately plead a claim for in-
vasion of privacy by false light.

A.  No Corporate Right to Privacy. Corporations cannot assert a claim
for invasion of privacy because they have no legal right to privacy.

Businesses cannot maintain tort claims for invasion of privacy, by false light
or otherwise. In Booth Newspapers, Inc. v. Kent County Treasurer, the Michigan Court
of Appeals held that corporations have no right to privacy under the State constitu-
tion or at common-law: “Since the right to privacy is primarily designed to protect
the feelings and sensibilities of human beings rather than to safeguard property,
business, or other pecuniary interests, the courts have denied this right to corpora-

tions and other institutions.”% Scottsdale is erroneously attempting to assert a right

55 Complaint Exh. 2 at 1, § 1 (emphasis added).

56 Booth Newspapers, Inc. v. Kent County Treas., 175 Mich. App. 523, 528-529
(1989). See also R. Sack, Defamation § 12:3.5 (5th ed. 2018) (citing Restatement
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it does not have. The Court should not permit it to do so.

B.  No Private Facts. The challenged statements are all about matters
of public record, which cannot support a privacy claim.

Even if corporations could assert privacy claims, it is blackletter law that in-
formation already a matter of public knowledge or of public record cannot serve as
the basis for an invasion of privacy claim.” Here, Scottsdale’s connection to the
Biozoom pump-and-dump is a matter of public record in the SEC enforcement pro-
ceedings in Tavella, Villena, and Scarpino, and in the FINRA disciplinary proceeding
against Scottsdale and Mr. Hurry. Discussing these matters of public record, com-

plete with links to the source documents, defeats any possible privacy claim.

C.  No False Statement. Scottsdale does not adequately allege that the
challenged statements are false.

The heightened First Amendment pleading and proof standards apply equally
to privacy torts predicated upon defamation.®® So, because Scottsdale hasn’t ade-
quately pleaded that the challenged statements are false for defamation purposes, it

also hasn’t adequately pleaded falsity for its privacy claim.

D.  NoActual Malice Pleaded. Scottsdale does not adequately allege that

MLM and Mr. Goode published the challenged statements with ac-
tual malice.

Even if corporations could assert privacy claims and the relevant public rec-
ords did not automatically defeat Scottsdale’s claim, it would still fail as pleaded. The

elements of this claim are: (1) that the defendant broadcast a communication to the

(Second) of Torts § 6521 Comment ¢ (1997), and collecting State and federal cases
applying this rule).

57 Cf. Doe v. Mills, 212 Mich. App. 73, 82 (1995) (so holding in a case involving
a claim for invasion of privacy by public disclosure of embarrassing facts).

58 Ireland, 230 Mich. App. at 624.
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public or a large number of people; and (2) the communication placed the plaintiff in
a light that would be highly offensive to a reasonable person; with (3) knowledge that
the publicized matter was false or reckless disregard for the false light in which the
plaintiff would be placed.” The communications at issue are the same challenged
statements that Scottsdale relies upon for its defamation claim; there are no new facts
offered in support of its privacy claim. Although Scottsdale generically alleges that
MLM and Mr. Goode “knew” that the challenged statements were false (or that they
recklessly disregarded their falsity), the Complaint is devoid of any facts alleging sow
they knew the statements were false or w/y they recklessly disregarded whether the

statements were false. Under Rouch 17, this automatically dooms the claim.

3. Dismissal with Prejudice: Scottsdale cannot cure the flaws in the Com-
plaint by further amendment.

Leave to amend should be withheld when amendment would be futile.6°
Amendment would be futile in this case because: (1) all of the statements are true
when considered in light of FINRA’s disciplinary proceeding and the SEC’s en-
forcement proceedings; and (2) corporations cannot assert privacy claims. Accord-
ingly, the Court should dismiss this case with prejudice.

/]
/1
/1
/1
/1
/1

9 Early Detection Ctr., P.C. v. New York Life Ins. Co., 157 Mich. App. 618, 630
(1986).

0 Allegheny-Ludlam Corp. v. Michigan Dept. of Treas., 207 Mich. App. 604, 605
(1994).
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
For these reasons, MLM and Mr. Goode respectfully request that the Court

grant summary disposition in their favor under MCR 2.116(C)(8) and dismiss the
Complaint with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted,
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V.

MAGDALENA TAVELLA,

ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO
GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO,
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN,

DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN,
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI,

MARIANO GRACIARENA, and

FERNANDO LOUREYRO,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Comimission (the “Commission™) for its
Complaint alleges as follows:

3. The Commission brings this civil law cnforcement action against
Magclalena Tavella, Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana
Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela Patricia Goldman, and
Mariano Pablo Ferrari (collectively, the “Selling Defendants™) on an emergency basis to
prevent millions of dollars of proceeds from unlawful sales of securities being transferred
out of the country. Over the past month, the Selling Defendants have sold almost $34
million worth of securities in Biozoom, Inc. (“Biozoom™) (f/k/a. Entertainment Art, Inc.),

a penny stock company traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB™), and




millions more shares are sitting in defendants’ brokerage accounts and likely to be sold
unlawfully to the public. No regispr.ation statement was in effect for the Selling
Defendants’ resale of securities, thus their sales were in violation of Section 5 of the
Securities Act of .1933 (the “Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 77¢]. Further,lz'almost 517
million of the Selling Defendants’ ill-gotten proceeds have been transfened- out of the
United States. Unless an asset freeze covering the Selling Defehdzmt_;;’ Biozooi_n shares is -
issued, the unlawful sales of secﬁrities and transfer or di.ssipation of the prqceedé from
sales of the securities will likely continue.

2. The Commission also brings this civil law enforcement action against
Mariano Graciarena and Fernando Loureyro. These defendants recently deposited over a
total of approximately 4.4 million shares of Bilozoom stock into their respective
brokerage accounts. Like the shares sold by the Selling Defendants, there is no
registration statement in effect permitting the lawful resale of the Biozoom shares held by
Graciarena and Loureyro. Because Graciarena and Loureyro are likely to engage in the
sale of securities in {figlalion of Section 5 of the Securities Act, the Commission seeks to
enjoin them from offerin g for resale their Biozoom shares until such time as a registration
statement 1s filed and in effect.

3 From March 2013 to June 2013, detendants opened brokerage accounts at
broker-dealers and deposited millions of shares of Biozoom, Inc. (fik/a Entertainment
Art, Inc.) that they claimed did not bear a l‘est_ri ctive legend and were frcc-t;ading shares..
All of the defendants claimed that they had purchased all or some of their shares from

some of the original shareholders of Entertainment Art in transactions between

November 2012 and March 2013.
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4, To bolster their claims, each of the defcndants_submitted stock purchase
agreements dated between November 2012 and March 2013 that purportedly evidenced
their purchase of Entertainment Art stock from the former Entertainment Art
shareholders. Based on these stock purchase agreements and other documentation, the
defendants — between March 2013 and June 2013 — deposited a total of 20,130,000 shares
of Biozoom into their brokerage accounts. I

5 The defendants could not, however, have purchased any of their shares
from the original Entertainment Art shareholders as they claimed because those
shareholders ceased to have any interest in the company on or around May 2009 —more
than three years earlier than the defendants’ claimed purchases.

6. Almost immediately after defendants deposited shares of Biozoom in their
brokerage accounts, Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases and a stock
promotional campaign for the company began. Following these press releases and stock
promotional campaign, from May 16, 2013 to June 21, 2013, the company’s stock price
and volume increased dramatically. For example, prior to May 16, 2013, no shares in
Biozoom had traded. However, from May 16, 2013 to June 21, 2013, Biozoom’s stock
price shot past $4 per share, with total volume of more than 87 million shares.

7. During this same period, eight of the defendants sold millions of Biozoom
shares into the rising market — reaping millions of dollars in proceeds as a result. In
total, over an approximately one month period from May 16, 2013 — June 17, 2013, eight
of the defendants sold a total of over 14 million shares of Biozoom stock into the public

marKets for proceeds of almost $34 million.
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8. None of these sales were made pursuant to an effectiv_e registration
statement. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, the eight Selling Defendants violated
the registration provisions of the federal securities _léws, Sections 5(2) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Secun'tics Act”) t]S' U'.S.C_‘. 15 U.8:C: §§-7’?e{_a) and ??-e’(c)]’.-_

9. While.' the remaining two defendants — Graciarena and Loureyro —have yet
to sell any of their Biozoom shares, they are 1ikély 1_0-.'dolso' unless "'rc'straineﬁll. They
recently deposited millions of shares into their respective brokerage accounts, claiming
(as the other defendants) that these shares have no restrictive leg_f:nd and are available for
resale to the public. Therefore, the Commission seeks an order pursuant to Securities Act
Section 20(b) [15 U.S.C. 77t(b)] to enjoin them from viola;ions of Sections 5(a) and 5(c)
of the Securities Act.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  The SEC brings this action pursuant to Section 5 [15 U.S.C. § 77¢] and
Section 20(b) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 US.C. § 77u(b)].
Defendants have directly or indirectly made use of the means or instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, or of the mails, or the faciliti_es of a national securities exchange in
connection with the acts, practices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in this
Complaint.

11.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22 of the
Securities Act {15 U:S.C. § 77v], and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. .

12.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities
Act [15 U.S.C. §77V], because certain acts, practices, and courses of business constituting

the violations alleged herein have occurred within the Southern District of New York.



13.  Defendants will, unless restrained and enjoined, continue to engage in the
acts, practices, transactions, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint, or in acts,
practices, transactions, and courses of business of similar purport and object.

THE DEFENDANTS

14.  Defendant Andres Horacio Ficicchia resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina
and is an Argentine citizen.

15, Defendant Gonzalo Garcia Blaya resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and
1s an Argentine citizen.

16.  Defendant Luciana Mariana Hemando resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina,
and Is an Argentine citizen.

1 Defendant Cecilia De Lorenzo resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and 1s

an Argentinc citizen.

18. Defendant Magdalena Tavella resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is
an Argentine citizen.

19.  Defendant Adriana Rosa Bagattin resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and
is an Argentine citizen.

20. Defendant Daniela Patricia Goldman resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina,
and is an Argentine citizen.

21.  Defendant Mariano Pablo Ferrari resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and

is an Argentine citizen.

22 Defendant Mariano Graciarena resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is

an Argentine citizen.
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23 Defendant Fernando Loureyro resides in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and is
an Argentine citizen.

OTHER RELEVANT ENTITIES

24.  Biozoom, Inc. (f/k/a Entertainment Arts, Inc.) is a Nevada corporation
with its principal place of business in Kassel, Germany. Biozoom purportsto be in the
bﬁsiness of researching, developing, and lice_nsing te‘chnolog"iés 'reiﬁfing to '.ﬂle-mobile-
remo;[e collection of biomedical data as weli as bilateral diagnostic communication.
Biozoom’s common stock is registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12 of
the Sccuriti.es Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §781] and is quoted on
the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB™) under the trading symbol “BIZM.”

25.  Legend Securities (“Legend”) is a registered broker-dealer located in New
York, New York.

26.  Scottsdalc Capital Advisors (“Scottsdale™) is a registered broker-dealer
located in Phoenix, Arizona.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Creation of Entertainment Art and Initial Sale of Company

27. On June 135, 2007, Entertainment Art was incorporated under the laws of
the state of Nevada. In public filings, Entertainment Art represented that it was a
developmental stage company formed to design, produce, and sell a line of leather bags,
with offices located in West Hempstead, New York. Entertainment Art was controlled
by the three members of company management.

28. From November 2007 through Mar;ch 2008, Entertainment Art offered and

sold a total of 610,000 shares to 34 different investors in private placement transactions.



A share certificate reflecting Entertainment Art share ownership was issued to each
investor.

29, On .I‘I.llj.( 18, 2008, Entertainment Art filed a Ef‘_orm S-1 registration
statement with tﬁe Commission to register the resaj;lé transactions for the 34 shareholders
who acquired Entertainment Art stock in these private .piaccments (“the Form S-1
Shareholders™). In pé.rticu]ar, of the total 1,810,000 shares outstanding at the time of the. _
Form S-1, Entertainment Art’s S-1 covered 610,000, or apprbximately oﬁe-third, of the
company’s then outstanding shares. . |

30.  The remaining 1,200,000 shares of Entertaimnent Art stock were held by
the three company officers in three identical 400,000 share blocks.

31.  On May 1, 2009, Entertainment Art announced, in a public filing with the
Commission, that the three Entertainment Art officers sold their total 1,200,000 shares of
Entertainment Art to Medford Financial Lid. (“Medford Financial”), a Belizean entity,
for a purchase price of $120,000.

32.  Contrary .to this disclosure, however, Medford Financial purchased more
than 1,200,000 shares of Entertainment Art. In fact, Medford Financial also purchased
all of the 610,000 shares that had been purchased by the Form S-1 shareholders. Thus, in
this transaction, Medford Financial purchased all of the outstanding shares, including the
shares then held by the Form S-1 Sharcholders.

33.  Each of the Form S-1 shareholders received their initial investment back,
with an additiona_l, s'.mall return on their investment. Thus, by on or around May 2009,

each of the Form S-1 shareholders had no remaining sharés or other interest in

Entertainment Art.



34, According to company filings, on June 30, 2009, Entertainment Art’s
board of directors approved the implementation of a 33:1 forward split for Entertainment
Art stock without correspondingly increasing the authorized shares of C:OII.]IIIIOPL. stock for
Entertainment Art. On July 21,2009, ﬂle forward Split became effective, ar;d as a'result
of the forward split, the company .had 59.,-.7'3 0"_-00'0 shares of common stock out.s{:andi.ng 5
which was all owned b_y Medford Financial. |

B. Another Sale of Entertainment Art and Acquis’ition. ‘of Biozoom
Technology

35.  On October 25, 2012, Entertainment Art reported, in a public filing with
the Commission, that on October 19 Medford Financial sold 39,600,000 common shares
of Entertainment Art in a private transaction with Le Mond Capital for a purchase price
of $430,000, which equates to approximately $0.01 per share.

36.  Le Mond Capital purports to be a foreign entity based in the British Virgin
Islands. As a result of the sale, Entertainment Art disclosed that Le Mond Capital
controlled over 66.3% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock.

37. Howevcr,- on information and belief, Le Mond Capital purchased the
entire company from Medford Financial — and all of 59,730,000 outstanding shares.

38. The owner. of Le Mond Capital, Sara Deutsch, became Entertainment
Art’s new President, Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer, Treasurer,
Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Treasurer, and Director. On information and belief,
Deutsch is a resident of Buenos Aireé,- Argentina.

39, From September 2011 to at least October 2012, Deutsch worf_ced as a

manager of Magdalena’s Party. According to the business’ website, Magdalena’s Party is



a restaurant located in Buenos Aires, Argentina. According to another website describing -
Magdalena’s Party, it is co-owned by Deutsch, defendant Magdalena Tavella, and others.

40. On March 12, 2013, Enl;enainment Art filed 2 Form §-K with the
Commission in which it announced a dramatic change in its business operations from a
company that developed fashionable leather bags to a company that was involved in the
biomedical industry. In particular, Entertainment Art announced a transaction pursuant
to which its newly formed subsidiary, Biozoom Technologies, Inc., acquired certain
patents, licenses, and related assets from each of three separate companies: Opsolution
Spectroscopic Systems, Opsolution NanoPhotonics, and Opsolution GmBH, (the
“Opsolution acquisition™) in exchange for cash of $50,000 and 39 million shares of
Entertainment Art common stock.

41.  Entertaimment Art described that, through Biozoom, it was now in the

remote collection of biomedical data as well as bilateral diagnostic communication.”

42.  Entertainment Art further disclosed that — as of immediately after closing
of the Opsolution acquisition and filing of the Form 8-K — Deutsch would step down as
CEQ and Chief Financial Officer of Entertainment Art, but would stay on as a Director
only.

43, As a result of the transaction, the 59,730,000 ouistanding shares of
Entertainment Art were allocated in the following manner. First, Le Mond Capital
returned 39,000,000 shares to the company, and then those 39,000,000 shares werc

_allocated — as shares bearing a restrictive lesend — to four entities that were associated

with the Opsolution entities.



44, Thus, after these allocations, 20,730,000 shares of Entertainment Art
remained. Le Mond Capital retained 600,000 of these shares bearing a restrictive legend.
The remaining 20,130,000 shares — which represented the total shares purchased by the
Form S-1 Sha:éholdérs (and subsequently soid in the Medford Financial transaction on or
around May 2009) -—. were unallocated.

45.. On Aprill, 2013, Eﬁtertainment Art changed its name to Biozoom, under
the trading symbol “BIZM;’ on the OTC Bulletin Board.

C. Defendants Deposit Biozoom Shares In Their Newly Opened
Brokerage Accounts

46.  From January 2013 to May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at
Legend, a registered broker-dealer based in New York, in the name of four of the
defendants: Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, and De Lorenzo.

47. In May 2013, brokerage accounts were opened at Scottsdale, a regisiered
broker-dealer based in Phoenix, Arizona, in the name of another four defendants:
Tavella, Bagattin, Goldman, and Ferrari.

" 48. Accorclirll.gl-; to the account opening documentation — and as reflected in the
table below — with one exception, none of the defendants worked in fields related to

securities.

Blaya Music producer-stock investments
Hernando Marketing Managef
De Lorenzo Self-employed marketing specialist
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| Attorey practicing administrative, political,

Aintellectual property, and patent law

Bagattin Retired Teacher
Ferrari | Sales and Marketing
Goldman ; 1 Delicatessen owner

1. Accounts at Legend

Andres Horacio Ficicchia

49, Defendant Ficicchia opened his account at Legend on or about January 24,
2013 and funded the account with $26,000 cash.

50. On November 30, 2012, Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued an
Entertainment Art certificate for 165,000 shares to Ficicchia.

31. On March 13, 2013, Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued an
Entertainment Art certificate for 1,237,500 shares to Ficicchia,

52. The certificate for 1,237,500 shares was accompanied by a corporate
certification stating that Deutsch certified — at a board meeting of Entertainment Art on
March 22, 2013 — the company approved the issuance of that certificate to Ficicchia.

53.  In order to deposit the certificate for 1,237,500 shares and the certificate of
163,000 shares of Entertainment Art into his brokerage account at Legend, defendant
Ficicchia completed a “Deposit for Securities Request Certificate Questionnaire” that was

required by Legend, and provided additional documentation.
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54, The documentation reﬂci::téd that Ficicchia acquired the 1,237,500 shares
pursuant to two private sales that were completed on February 19, 2013: (1) a purchase of
412,500 shares from Inve'stor A and (2) a purchase of 825,000 shares from Investor B.
The documentation also reflected that Ficicchia paid a total of approximately $6,300 for
these sﬁares, which equals approximately $.005 ;per share. For the following reasons, the
documentation submitted by FiciCQﬁia was false. |

55.  Investor A was one of .thé Form S-1 shareholders who had sold his shares
of Entertainment Axt on or around.May 2009 — almost four years before Ficicchia’s
claimed purchase of shares from Investor A. Investor B was purportedly a shareholder
that acquired its shares from some of the Form S-1 shareholders in 2011 — approximately
two years after the Form S-1 shareholders actually sold their shares.

56.  The documentation further reflected that Defendant Ficicchia acquired the
165,060 shares pursuant to a private sale that was completed on November 30, 2012 with
Investor C — shares that he acquired for $24,750, which equals $0.15 per share. Investor
C was also one of the Form S-1 Shareholders who had sold his shares of Enfertainment
Art on or around May 2009 — over three years before Ficicchia’s claimed purchase of
shares from Investor C.

57. On March 5, 2013, Ficicchia deposited 165,000 shares of Entertainment
Art not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend; and then on
March 27, 2013, Ficicchia deposited an additional 1,237,500 shares (again not bearing a
restrictive legend) — for a total of 1,402,500 shares.

58. On Aprl 1, 2013, due to the name change of Entertainment Art to

Biozoom, these shares became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Ficicchia held



1,402,500 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly available to be sold on the public
markets.
Gonzalo Garcia Blaya

59.  On or about March 26,‘2013, defendant Blaya opened an account at
. Legend and funded this account with $26,000 cash.

60. On March 22, 2013 — just four days prior to opening .this account —
Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued a certificate for 1,485,000 Entertainment Art
shares to Blaya.

61. In order to deposit his certificate for 1,485,000 shares of Entertainment
Art into his brokerage account at Legend, defendant Blaya completed a “Deposit for
Securities Request Certificate Questionnaire” that was required by Legend, and provided
additional documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitted by
Blaya was falsc.

62.  The documentation reflected that Blaya acquired the 1,485,000 shares in
four separate private sales that were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of
165,000 shares from Investor D; (2) a purchase of 495,000 shares from Investor E; (3) a
purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor I; and (4) a purchase of 660,000 shares from
Investor G. The documentation also reflected that Blaya paid a total of approximately
$06,765 for these shares, which equals approximately $.005 per share.

63. Each of Investors D, E, F, and G were anﬁ S-1 Shareholders who had

sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 — almost four years before

Blaya’s claimed purchase of shares from these investors.
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64. On April 16, 2013, Blaya deposited 1,485,000 shares of Entertainment Art
not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Legend. Asa resuit of the
business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares. Thus,
defendant Blaya held 1,485,-000 shares of Biozoom that‘ were purportedly available to be
sold on the public markets.

TLuciana Mariana Hernando

65.  On or about March 7, 2013, defendant Hernando opened an aécount at
Legend and funded the account with $50,000 cash.

66. On March 22, 2013, Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued a certificate
for 1,815,000 Entertainment Art shares to Hernando.

67. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her
brokerage account at Legend, defendant Hernando completed a “Deposit for Securities
Request Certificate Questionnaire™ that was required by Legend, and provided additional
documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitted by Hernando
was false.

68. The documentation reflected that Hernando acquired the 1,815,000 shares
pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on March 5, 2013: (1) a
purchase of 1,650,000 shares from Investor H; and (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares from
Investor I. The documentation also reflected that Hernando paid a total of approximately
$5,445 for these shares, which equals approximately $.003 per share.

69.  Both Investors H and I were Form S-1 shareholders who had sold their
Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 — almost four years before Hernando’s

claimed purchase of shares from these investors.
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70. On May 14, 2013, defendant Hemando deposited 1,815,000 shares of
Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Legend
Securities. As a result of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares
became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Hernando held 1,815,000 sl;lares of Biozoom
that were purportedly available to be sold on the public markets.

Cecilia De Lorenzo |

74 On or about February 4, 2013, defénda.ut De Lorenzo opened an account at
Legend and funded the account with $50,000 cash.

72. On March 13, 2013, Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued a certificate
for 2,062,500 shares to De Lorenzo.

73.  The certificate was accompanied by a corporate certification stating that
Deutsch certified — at a board meeting of Entertainment Art on March 22, 2013 — the
company approved the issuance of the above certificate to De Lorenzo.

74, In order to deposit her 2,062,500 shares of Entertainment Art into her
brokerage account at Legend, De Lorenzo completed a “Deposit for Securities Request
Certificate Questionnaire” that was required by Legend, and provided additional
documentation. For the following reasons, the documentation submitied by De Lorenzo
was false.

73 The documentation reflected that De Lorenzo acquired the 2,062,500
shares pursuant to two separate private sales that were completed on February 19, 2013 -
the same day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art stock by Ficicchia: (1) a

purchase of 1,650,000 shares from Investor J; and (2) a purchase of 412,500 shares from



Investor K. The documentation also reflected that Defendant De Lorenzo paid a total of
approximately $8,300 for these shares, which equals approximately $.004 per share.

76. Both Investors J and K, however, were Form S—l-_ shareholders who had
sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 — almost four years beft-are
defendant De Lorenzo’s claimed purchase of shares from these investors.

77.  On March 22, 2013, defendant De Lorenzo deposited 2,062,500 shares of
Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokeragé é‘c;ount at Legend.
As a result of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom
shares. Thus, defendant De Lorenzo held 2,062,500 shares of Biozoom that purportedly
could be sold on the public markets.

2. Accounts at Scottsdale

Magdalena Tavella

78. On March 22, 2013, Emertainment Art’s stock transfer agent issued a
certificate for 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art to Tavella.

79.  On or about May 16, 2013, defendant Tavella opened an account at
Scottsdale.

80. In order to deposit her 1,815,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her
brokerage account, Scotisdale, using information and documentation provided by
Tavella, completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the
documentation submitted by Tavella was false.

81.  The documentation reflected that Tavella acquired the 1,815,000 shares
: pursuant to three separate private sales that were completed on March 5, 2013 — the same

day as the purported purchases of Entertainment Art by defendant Hernando: (1) a
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purchase of 165,000 shares from Investor L; (2) a purchase of 165,000 shares from
Investor M; and (3) a purchase of 1,485,000 shares from Investor N. The documentation
reflected that Tavella paid a total of approximately $9,075 for these shares, which equals
approximately $.006 per share.

82.  Investors'L and M were two of the Form S-1 shareholders who had sold -
their shares of Entertainment Art on or around May 2009 — almost fou'r-years before
Tavella’s claimed purchase of shares from them. Investor N was purportedly a
shareholder that acquired its shares from some of the Form S-1 shareholders in March
2011 — almost two years after the Form S-1 shareholders sold their shares.

83. On May 22, 2013, defendant Tavella deposited 1,815,000 shares of
Entertainment Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at
Scottsdale. As a result of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares
became Biozoom shares. Thus, defendant Tavella held 1,815,000 shares of Biozoom that
were purpertedly availablc to be sold on the public markets.

Adriana Rosa Bagattin

84. On March 13, 2013, Entertainment Art’s wransfer agent issued a certificate
for 2,310,000 Entertainment Art shares to defendant Bagattin.

85.  On or about May 10, 2013, defendant Bagattin opened an account at
Scottsdale.

86.  In order to deposit her 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her
brokerage account, Scotisdale, using information and documentation provided by
Bagattin, cor;nplctcd a securities deposit checklist. ~ For the following reasons, the

documentation submitted by Bagattin was false.
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87. The documentation reflected that Bagattin acquired the 2,310,000 shares
pufsuam to three private sales that were completed on February 26, 2013: (1) a purchase
of 1,650,000 shares from Investor O; (2) a purchase of 330,000 shares from Investor P;
and (3) a purchase of 330,000 shares from Investor Q. The documentation reflected that
Defendant Bagattin paid approximately $6,930 for these shares, which equals
approximately $.003 per share.

88.  Each of Investors O, P, and .-Q, howéver_, were Form S-1 Shareholders who
had sold their Entertainment Art shares on or around May 2009 — almost four years
before defendant Bagattin’s claimed purchase of shares from these persons.

89.  On May 22, 2013, Bagattin deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment
Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Scottsdale. As a result
of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares.
Thus, defendant Bagaitin held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly
available to be sold on the public markets.

Daniela Patricia Goldman

90.  On March 22, 2013, Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued a certificate
for 2,485,000 Entertainment Art shares to Goldman.

91.  On or about May 13, 2013, defendant Goldman opened an account at
Scottsdale.

92. In order to deposit her 2,485,000 shares of Entertainment Art into her
brokerage account, Scoftsdale, using documéntation and information provided by
Goldman, completed a sccdrities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the

documentation submitted by Goldman was false.
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93, The documentation reflected that Goldman acquired the 2,485,000 shares
pursuant to two private sales that were completed on March 4, 2013: (1) a purchase of
1,485,000 shares from Investor R; and (2) a purchase of 1,000,000'Isha:es from Investor.
S. The documentation also reflected that Goldman paid approximately $7,455 for these
shares, which equals approximately $.003 per share.

94.  Investor R purportedly obtained its shé.rcs from some of the Form S-1
Shareholders in March 2011 — almost two years after the Form. S-1 shareholders sold
their shares. Investor S was one of the Form S-1 shareholders and sold his shares on or
around May 2009 — almost four years before defendant Goldman’s claimed purchase of
shares from him.

95. On May 22, 2013, Goldman deposited 2,485,000 shares of Entertainment
Art not bearing a restrictive legend into her brokerage account at Scotisdale. As a result
of the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares.
Thus, defendant Goldman held 2,485,000 shares of Biczoom that were purportedly
available for sale on the public markets.

Mariano Pablo Ferrari

96. On March 22, 2013, Entertainment Art’s transfer agent issued a certificate
for 2,310,000 Entertainment Art.shares to Ferrari.

97. On or about May 20, 2013, Ferrari opened an account at Scottsdale.

98. In order (o deposit his 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art into his
brokerage account, Scottsdale, using documentation and information provided by Ferrari,

completed a securities deposit checklist. For the following reasons, the documentation

provided by Ferrari was false.
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99. The documentation reflected that Ferrari acquired the 2,310,000 shares
pursuant to two private sales that were completed on March 5, 2013: (1_) a purchase of
1,650,000 shares from Investor T; and (2) a purchase of 660,000 s;hares &ém Investor U.
The documentation also reflected that Goldman paid approximétely $9,240 for these
shares, or approximately $.004 per share. )

100. Investor T was one of the Form S-1 shareholders and sold his shares on or
around May 2009 — almost four years before defendant Ferrari’s claimed purchase of
shares from him. Investor U purportedly obtained its shares from some of the Form S-1

shareholders in September 2009.

101.  On May 22, 2013, Ferrari deposited 2,310,000 shares of Entertainment Art
not bearing a restrictive legend into his brokerage account at Scottsdale.  As a result of
the business name change on April 1, 2013, these shares became Biozoom shares. Thus,
defendant Ferrari held 2,310,000 shares of Biozoom that were purportedly available for
sale on the public markets.

Two Other Accounts in Names of Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro

102.  On March 22, 2013, Manhattan Transfer issued a certificate for 2,145,000
Entertainment Art shares to Graciarena and 2,300,000 Entertainment Art shares to
Loureyro. Graciarena and Loureyro submifted documentation reflecting that they had
obtained their shares in the same manner as the other eight defendants — ie. — by
purportedly purchasing shares from the Form S-1 shareholders.

103. On or about June 14, 2013, Fernando Loureyro and Mariano Graciarena
opened separate accounts at Scottsdale. Like the other eiéht defendants, both stated in

brokerage firm documents that they resided in Buenos Aires, Argentina.



104. On June 18, 2013, these shares were deposited in the brokerage accounts
of these two individuals. To date, none of these shares have been sold.

105. In sum, from November 2012 to June 2013, the ten defendant accounts
received a total of 20,130,000 shares of Entertainment Art. These shares represented all
of the shares that were -unallocated after the Opsolution acquisition. Moreover, these
shares represented 7100% percent of the total shares without a restrictive legend
outstanding in Biozoom at the time, and more than 33% percent of the total outstanding
shares of Biozoom.

D. Defendants Sell Millions of Biozoom Shares

106. Beginning on May 22, 2013 — and after nearly all of the defendants had
deposited their Biozoom shares not bearing 2 resfrictive legend in their accounts —
Biozoom began issuing a series of press releases in which it claimed it “created the
world’s first portable, handheld consumer device” to instantly and non-invasively
measure certain biomarkers. These claims were also made by other entities, including
Global Financial, Inc., Stock Preacher.com, among others.

107. Following these positive claims concerning Biozoom’s prospects, the
accounts in the name of eight of the selling defendants sold substantial amounts of thelr
Biozoom stock that did not bear a restrictive legend for massive proceeds. In particular,
and as reflected in the chart below, eight of the defendants sold 14,078,406 shares of

BIZM stock for proceeds of $33,997,152.

“Defendant . | Shares Sold- | Dates Sold - - - | Proceeds;. | Shares. . .. -
e el [ Rt
Blaya 1,312,053 | 5/16/13—6/13/13 | $3,014,965 | 172,947

De Lorenzo 1,328,000 | 6/17/13-6/18/13 | $4,809,836 | 734,500

Hernando 1,815,000 '6/6/13 -6/17/13 1 35,048217 |0
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"|‘Defendant - | 'Shares'Sold |Dates'Sold ="+ .| ‘Proceeds: ~i|:Sharesi:#s 2
e Sl o Remaining
Ficcichia 1,402,500 5/20/13 —6/5/13 | $1,979,389 | 272,620'
Tavella 1,592,444 6/7/13 -6/11/13 | $3,116,894 | 382,956
_Bagattin 2,176,726 | 6/10/13—-6/18/13 | $6,223,310 | 133,724
Ferrari 1,994,038 6/7/13 - 6/19/13 | $5,456,650 | 315,962
Goldman 2,457,645 5/28/13 - 6/6/13 | $3,771,761 | 27,355

108.  All of the eight selling defendants placed T%hei_r--orders to.--si_el]- Biozoom
stock in the same manner — via e-mail and instant mcssagé to either Legend or.Scdttsdaie.

109.  Upon selling shares in Biozoom, several of the défendants .ins.tructed their
brokerage firms to wire the proceeds of their sales to foreign bank accounts in various
countries:

o Tficicchia: On June 7, 2013, defendant Ficicchia instructed Legend, to wire §1
million to Alpine Securities, Inc., a registered clearing broker-dealer. Alpine
provides clearing services for Scottsdale, and as described earlier, Ficicchia
opened an account at Scottsdale on or around June 10, 2013 and funded it with
this $1 million. On June 25, 2013 — the same day as the Commussion’s order
suspending tradi.ﬁg in Biozoom - Ficicchia instructed Scottsdale to wire $325,000
to a bank account in Cyprus. This wire was not executed. Ficicchia’s brokerage
account at Legend currf:.ntly has a cash balance of slightly over $1 million, and
Ficicchia’s brokerage account at Scottsdale currently has a cash b.alance of

approximately $328,000.

’ On or around June 10, 2013, Ficicchia opened an account at Scorsdale and funded this account -
with $1 million from his account at Legend. Ficicchia’s “Shares Remaining” column reflects Biozoom
purchases that he has made in his account at Scottsdale.

5

= Tavella’s “Shares Remaining” column includes 160,400 Biozoom shares that she purchased-in the
open market on June 19, 2013.



Blaya: On June 14, 2013, Blaya instructed Legend to wire “all settled funds
except $30,000” to an account held in Geneva, Switzerland. This wire was not
executed. This account currently has a cash balance of approximately $3.5
million.

Hernando: On June 13, 2013, Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to
.wire “all available seftled cash™ in her account, which at the time, was
approximately $600,000, to an account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company
Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus. This wire was executed. On June 17, 2013,
Hernando instructed his broker-dealer, Legend, to wire $2 million, again to an
account held at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus.
This wire was not executed by Legend. This account has a cash balance of
approximately $4.5 million.

De Lorenzo: De Lorenzo has not yet attempted to wire any money out of her
account. De Lorenzo has a bank account in Dar Es Salaam. The account has a
cash balance of approximately $4.8 million.

Tavella: On June 25, 2013 — the day of the Commission’s order suspending
trading in the securities of Biozoom — Tavella attempted to wire approximately
$2,450,000 out of her account at Scotisdale to a bank account in St. Vincent and
the Grenandines. This wire has not been executed. The current cash balance in
Tavella’s brokerage account is approximately $2.47 million.

Bagattin:  On June 20, 2013, Bagatiin instructed Scottsdale to wire
approximately $4.33 million to a bank account in Cyprus. This wire was

executed. On June 24, 2013, Bagattin instructed Scottsdale to send an additional



approximately $1.89 million to the same bank account. This wire was also
exccut;d. The current cash balance in Bagattin’s brokerage account is §3,000.

¢ Goldman: On June 11, 2013, ‘Goldman instructed Scottsdale to wire
apf)roximately $3.77 million to an account held at a bank in Geneva, Switzerland
—a bank where Blaya also holds an account. This wire was executed. The cash

~ balance in Goldman’s account is $0.

e Ferrari: On June 19, 2013, Ferran instructed Scottsdale to wire $500,000 to an
account held at a bank in Panama. This wire was executed. On June 24, 2013,
Ferrari instructed Scottsdale to wire an additional $4.9 million, this time to a bank
in Belize. This wire was also executed. The cash balance in Ferrari’s account is
$0.

F, No Registration Statement Was In Effect At the Time Defendants Sold
' Biozoom Shares

110.  Section 5 of the Securities Act makes it unlawful for any person, directly or
indirectly, to offer or sell securities, using the U.S. mails or interstate commerce, unless such
offer or sale is registered ;vith the Commission.

111.  No registration statement was in effect for the shares sold by the Selling

efendants.

112.  No registration statement 1s in effect for the Biozoom shares held by
defendants Graciarena and Loureyro.

G.  Biozoom 1s A Penny Stock As Defined By The Sccurities Exchange Act
of 1934 (“Exchange Act”)

113. Biozoom’s stock is a “penny stock™ as defined by the Exchange Act. At
times relevant to this Complaint, the stock’s shares traded at less than $5.00 per share.

During the same time period, Biozoom’s stock did not meet any of the exceptions to
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penny stock classification pursuant to Section 3(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 of the Exchange
Act.

114,  For example, the company’s stock: (1) did not frade on a national
securities exchmg-e.; (2) was not an “NMS stock,” as defined in 17 CFR. §
242.242.600(b)(47); (3) did not have net tangible assets (i.e., total assets less intangible
assets and liabilities) in excess of $5,000,000; and (4) did not have average revenue of at
least $6,000,000 for the last three years. (See Exchange Act, Rule 3a51-1(g).)

COUNT I
VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT, 15 U.S.C. §77e

{Defendants Tavella, Ficicchia, Blava, Hernando, De Lorenzo, Bagattin, Ferrari,

Goldman)

115. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by
reference.

116. Defendants, by engaging in the conduct described above, directly or
indirectly, and without a registration statement in effect as to such securities:

(2) made use of means or instruments of transportation or communication
in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell, through the use or
medium of a prospectus or otherwise; or

(b) carried or caused to be camried through the mails or in interstate
comumerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, securities
for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale.

117. Defendants, by engaging in the conduct described above, also directly or
indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in

interstate commerce or ‘of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or



medium of any prospectus or otherwise securities, without a registration statement having
been filed as to those securities.

118. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Defendants directly or indirectly,
violated, and unless restrained anéi' enjoined will continu.e fo violate Sections 5(a) and
5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢e(a) and 77¢e(c)].

COUNTH
INJUNCTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 20(b) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
(Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro)

119. Paragraphs 1 through 114 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference
herein.

120.  Sccurities Act Section 20(b) provides that “whenever it shall appear to the
Commission that any person is engaged in or is about to engage in any acts or practices
which constitute or will constitute a violation of the provisions of this ftitle, the
Commission may in its discretion, bring an action in district court to enjoin such acts or
practices .. ."”

121.  Defendants Graciarena and Loureyro have deposited shares of Biozoom in
their respective brokerage accounts. Those shares do not bear a resirictive legend.
However, no registration statement is in effect for the offer of sale of those shares.

122

Unless restrained and enjoined, Graciarena and Loureyro are likely to
offer or sell their Biozoom shares to the public in violation of Section 5 of the Securities

Act.



PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WIHEREFORE, the Commission res;aectﬁ_.lliy requests that this Court:
I:

Issue findings of fact and conclusions of ‘law that defendants Ficicchia, Blaya,
Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari committed the violations
charged and alleged herein.

48

Enter an order temporarily restraining and enjoining defendants Ficicchia, Blaya,
Hernando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena, and Loureyro,
their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in active concert or
participation with defendants who receive actual notice of the Order, by personal service or
otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts,
practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of similar purport and object,
in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢e(z) and 77¢(c)].

111

Enter an order freezing the brokerage accounts and any assets of defendants
Ficicchia, Blaya, Hemando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari derived
from the sale of Biozoom stock; and, freezing the brokerage accounts of defendants
Graciarena and Loureyro holding Biozoom sba:.esA

Iv.

Enter an order requiring defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hemando, De Lorenzo,

Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari to return to the United States any proceeds from the

sale of Biozoom stock that have been transferred abroad and those proceeds which are
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returned be frozen in a domestic bank during the pendency of this action to preserve such
assets for the satisfaction of disgorgement.
V.

Enter an Order of Permanent Injunction restraining @d enjoining defendants
Ficicchia, Blaya, Hemando, De Lorenzo, Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, Ferrari, Graciarena,
and Loureyro, their officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys and those persons in
active concert or participation with defendants who receive actual notice of the Order, by
personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the
transactions, acts, practices or courses of business described above, or in conduct of similar
purport and object, in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§
77e(a) and 77e(c)].

VL

Enter an Order requiring defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hernando, De ILorenzo,
Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari to disgorge the ill-gotien gains received as a result
of the violations alleged herein, including prejudgment interest.

VIL

Issue an Order imposing upon defendants Ficicchia, Blaya, Hemando, De Lorenzo,
Tavella, Goldman, Bagattin, and Ferrari appropriate civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d)
of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77t(d)].

VIIIL.
Issue an order permanently and unconditionally barring, pursuant to Section 20(g) of

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(g)], the Selling Defendants from participating in an



offering of penny stock as defined by Exchange Act Section 3(2)(51) [15 US.C. §
78c(a)(51)] and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.3a51-1].
IX.

Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders
and decrees that may be entered or to entertain any suitable application or motion for
additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.

X.

Grant such other relief as this Court deems appropriate.

Dated: July 3, 2013
UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION

By Bold lEL Ao ..
Richard E. Simpson (£$5859)

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549

Telephone: (202) 551-4420
SimpsonR{@sec.gov

Of counsel:

David J. Gottesman
Patrick M. Bryan

Antonia Chion

Ricky Sachar

Deborah J. Tarasevich

Scott M. Lowry

Jennie B. Krasner

U.S. Securitics and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, NE



Washington, DC 20549
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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MAGDALENA TAVELLA, _ :
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO  :  Civil Action No. 13-CIV-4609 (NRB)
GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA :
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, :  Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, : :
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN,
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI,
MARIANO GRACIARENA, and
FERNANDO LOUREYRO,
Defendants.

STIPULATION AND ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY INTUNCTION, ASSET
FREEZE. AND OTHER RELIEF

This cause having come before the Court previously on July 3, 2013, on Plaintiff
Securitics and Exchange Commission’s (“Commission’s”) Motion for a Temporary Restraining
Order and Asset Freeze and For an Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary Injunction Should
Not Be Issued, the Court having considered the Commission’s Complaint, motion, supporting
memorandum of law, and the exhibits and declarations submitted in support 6f the Plair;tif;f’s
motion, and the Plaintiff and all Defendants by counse] having appeared and, without admitting
any wrongdoing, consented to the entry of this Ocder, this Courl finds as follows:

1. On July 3, 2013, this Court entered an order 1h:_1{, aniong other relief granted,

enjoined the disposition, sale, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, concealment, or other
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disposal of stock Iof Biozoom, Inc. (hereafter “Biozoom™) or the proceeds derived from the sale
thereof: froze accounts holding funds or assets of the Defendants; and ordered preservation of
documents related to Biozoom, any proceeds from the sale or transfer of Biczoom stock, or
related to accounts through which Biozoom stock was {raded or proceeds derived from the sale
thereof were deposited, and all communications concerning the foregoing. The Order entered
on July 3, 2013 also set a hearing for this matter on July 17, 2013 at 11:00 am.

2 There is no admission by Defendants that the allegations in the Complaint filed by
the Commission a.re true or accurate,

3. Defendants have consented and stipulated to the entry of this Order, which
continues the asset freeze and other relief set forth below, pending final adjudication of this case
or until further order of this Court.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED:

Al ASSET FREEZE ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that, until a final adjudication on the merits may be had,
Defendants and each of their agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in
active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order by personal
service or otherwise, and each of them, hald and retain within their control, and otherwise
prevent any disposition, sale, transfer, pledge, encumbrance, assignment, dissipation, i
concealment, or other disposal whatsoever of any shares of Biozoom and all proceeds derived
from sales of Biozoom stock under their control or over which they exercise actual or apparent
investment or other authority, wherever Jocated, in whatever form such assets may presently

exist, or in any account whatsoever,
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the freeze described in this Section A, includes but is
not limited to all Biozoom stock and all funds in the following accounts (hereafter, “Group A
Accounts™):

)] Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with
account number ending in “CICC”.
(i)  Andres Horacio Ficicchia’s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors,

Inc. with account number ending 2927.

(ii) Gonzalo Garcia Blaya’s account at Legend Securities, Inc. with
account number ending in “LAYA”".

(iv)  Luciana Mariana Hernando’s account at Legend Securities, Inc.
with account number ending in “ANDO”.

) Cecilia De Lorenzo’s account at Legend Securities, Inc. with
account number ending in “ENZO”,

(vi)  Magdalena Tavella’s account Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc.

with account number ending 383 1.

(vii) Adriana Rosa Bagattin’s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors,

Inc. with account number ending 5435.

- (vii) Daniela Patricia Goldman’s account at Scottsdale Capital

Advisors, Inc. with account number ending 3536.

(ix)  Mariano Pablo Ferrari’s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors,

[nc. with account number ending 5327.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED tha‘l. the freeze described in this Section A further includes

but is not limited to all Biozoom stock, and all praceeds from the sale or disposition of Biozoom
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stock in any other accounts whatsoever, including but not limited to the following accounts
(hereafter, “Group B Accounts™), whether deposited directly or &ansfcm:d from another account:
)] Luciana Mariana Hemnando’s account at Hellenic Bank Public

Company Limited in Lemesos, Cyprus, with an account number ending in — 13 01.

(ii)  Adrizna Rosa Bagattin’s account at FBME Bank Limited in

Nicosia, Cyprus, with an account number m&ing in ~ 644.

(iii) Daniela Patricia Goldman’s acﬁoun.t at CBH Compagnie Bancaire

Helvetique SA in Geneva, Switzerland with an account number ending in —345.

(iv) . Mariano Pablo Ferrari’s account at HSBC Bank in Panama City,

Panama, with an account number ending in — 590.

(v)  Madano Pa'blo Ferrari’s account at Choice Bank Limited in Belize

City, Belize, with an account number ending in—521.

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that any financial or brokerage institution or
other pcrsé.\n or entity holding any funds or other assets dérivcd or related to the saie of Biozoom
stack, in the name of; for the benefit of, or under the control of defendants, their agents, servants,
employees, attomeys-in-fact, and those persons in-active concert or participation with them,
wherever located, shall hold and retain within their control and prohibit the withdrawal, remaoval,
transfer or other disposal of any such funds or other asscts except as otherwise ordered by this
Courr, including all shares of Biozoom held on behalf of Defendants, and including but not
limited to: (a) all funds and Biozoom stock in the Group A Accounts; and (b] all funds in the
Group B Accounts that are proceeds from the sale of Biozoom stock, whether deposited directly
in those accounts or transferred from other accounts.

B. PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION FROM VIOLATIONS
OF SECURITIES ACT SECTION 5
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IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that
Defendants and Defendant’s agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active
concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this order by personal service or
otherwise shall be and are hm:eby preliminarily restrained and enjoined, pending entry of a Final
Judgment in this action, from violating Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §
77¢] by, directly or indirectly, in the absence of any applicable exemption: |

(&)  Unless a registration statement is in effect &s to & security, making use of any

means or instruments-of tm.nspo:tation or communication in interstate commerce
or of the mails to sell such security through the use or mediium of any prospectus
or otherwise; or

(¢)  Making use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in
interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of
any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration statement has been filed with the
Commission as to such security, or while the registration statement is the subject of a refusal
order or stop order or (prior to the effective date of the registration statement) any public
proceeding or examination under Section 8 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77h].

C ORDER PROHIBITING DESTRUCHON OF RECORDS

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants and their agents, servants,
employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active concert or panici]:;ation with them who
receive actual notice of this Order by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, are hereby
restrained from destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering, or disposing of any document
referring or relaling in any -manner to any transactions involving or related in any way to

Biozoom, any proceeds from the sale or transfer of Biozoom stock, any accounts holding or
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through which Biozoom stock was traded or proceeds derived from sales were deposited,
including but not limited to the Group A Accounts and Group B Accounts, and any
comrnunications concerning the foregoing. As used in this Order, “document” means the
original and all non-identical copies (whether non-identical because of handwritten notation or
otherwise) of all written or graphic matter, whether in paper, electronic, or any other form,
however produced, and any other tangible record, or electronic data compilation capable of
reproduction in tangible form, including, without limitation, correspondence, memoranda,
minutes, telephone records, e-mails, reports, studies, teiexes, diaries, calendar entries, contracts,
letters of agreement, and including any and all existing drafts of all documents.

D. ORDER PROVIDING ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF SERVICE

IT 1S HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, service of all pleadings and other papers, this Order and all documents filed in
support thereof, and all other documents to be served in this action, may be made personally, by
facsimile, by ovemnight courier, or by electronic mail upon each Defendant, his or her attorney,
his or ber U.S. agents or his or her foreign agents to the extent permitted by law, or by an
alternative provision for service permitted by Rule 4 of the Fi ederal-Rl;lcs of Civil Procedure, or
as _this Court may direct by further order.

E. ORDER IS BINDING ON ALL PERSONS WITH ACTUAL NOTICE OF
THE ORDER :

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, that this Order shall be, and is, binding upon
each Defendant, and each of his or ber agents, servants, employees, attorneys-in-fact, and those
persons in active concert or participation with him or her who receive actual notice of this Order
by personal service, facsimile service, or service in accordance with Section D of this Order, or

otherwise,
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F.  OTHER RELIEF

1T IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, that the United States Marshall in any district in

which any Defendant resides, transacts business or may be found is authorized and directed to
make service of process upon any Defendant at the request of the Commission.
G.  TIME FORDEFENDANTS TO RESPOND TO COMPLAINT
Defendants shall answer or otherwise respond to the Commission’s Complaint on or

before August 26, 2013.

IT 18 HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that this Stipulation and Order may be modified

for good cause shown, and this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for all purposes.
IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 65(¢), no security is required of the Commission.

SO ORDERED:

Dated this _/ Zﬂ day of July, 2013.

Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald

STIPULATED AND AGREED:
F@ FOR DEFEND
’&%ﬂ‘w 7/ 6/101

Richard E. s]q:%on (RS5859) Brice A. Langer
David J. Gottesman (admitted pro hac vice) McLaughlin & Stern, LLP
Patrick M. Bryan (admitted pro hac vice) 260 Madison Avenue
U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission New York, NY 10016-2404
100 F Street, NE Washington, DC 20549 Telephone (202) 448-6216
Telephone: (202) 551-4420 Fax: (202) 448-0066

Fax: (202) 772-9245 sschuster@mclaughlinstern.com
SimpsonR@sec.gov blanger@mclaughlinstern.com
GottesmanD@scc.gov
BryanP@sec.gov
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

[ SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION, Civil Action No. 13-CIV-4609
Plaintiff, Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald

v,
MAGDALENA TAVELLA,

ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO
GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIJANA
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO,
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN,

DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN,
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI, MARIANO
GRACIARENA, and

FERNANDO LOUREYRO,

Defendants.

BIOZOOM, INC. FAIR FUND NOTICE

The United States Securities and Exchange Commission authorized this Notice.
This is not a solicitation from a lawyer.

If you purchased or otherwise acquired Biozoom, Inc. (“Biozoom”; OTCBB ticker: BIZM;
CUSIP: 09072T100) common shares in the United States during the Relevant Period, on or
between May 16, 2013 and June 25, 2013, you are eligible for damages if the shares were sold at a
loss or continue to be held. Per the Plan of Allocation you may be entitled to receive a monetary
payment from the Biozoom Fair Fund (“Fair Fund”).

Background

On July 3, 2013, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”) filed a complaint in
United States District Court Southern District of New York alleging that Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio
Ficicchia, Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Daniela
Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari (collectively, the “Defendants™) had unlawfully sold to the public
almost $34 million worth of securities in Biozoom (f/k/a Entertainment Art, Inc.) a penny stock company traded
on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. No registration statement was in effect for the selling Defendants’
resale of securities and thus their sales were in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act. Though the
Defendants claimed that they had purchased the stock between November 2012 and March 2013 from the
original shareholders, this was impossible because those original shareholders ceased to have any interest in the
company more than three years earlier than the selling Defendants’ claimed purchases.

From March 2013 to June 2013, Defendants opened brokerage accounts at broker-dealers and deposited millions
of shares of Biozoom that they claimed did not bear a restrictive legend and were free-trading shares. All of the
Defendants claimed that they had purchased all or some of their shares from some of the original shareholders of
Entertainment Art in transactions between November 2012 and March 2013. i

On July 9, 2013, a Temporary Restraining Order (“TRO”) was granted freezing the brokerage accounts of the
Defendants holding Biozoom shares and any accounts held by financial institutions or brokers that have the
proceeds of the Biozoom sales on behalf of the Defendants. Pursuant to the Final Judgment, a Fair Fund was




established to distribute the disgorged funds for the benefit of investors pursuant to the Fair Fund provisions
of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley™), 15 U.S.C. § 7246(a).

In partial satisfaction of the amounts owed by Defendants, Defendants accounts that were frozen
pursuant to the TRO, were ordered to be turned over. To date, the Commission recovered from the
frozen assets a total of $16,117,936. The Commission invested $16,022,574 with United States
Department of the Treasury at the Bureau of the Fiscal Service (“BFS”). It is doubtful, but possible, that
additional funds will be recovered from the Defendants from various foreign sources.

Plan of Allocation

The purpose of this distribution is to compensate investors in the Defendants’ misrepresentations and
omissions in its sale of Biozoom common stock.

The Net Available Fair Fund for the Biozoom distribution will be allocated to Eligible Claimants
according to the Plan of Allocation relative to the total disgorgement. The calculations made pursuant to
the Plan of Allocation are not intended to be estimates of the amounts that investors might have been
able to recover. Nor are the calculations pursuant to the Plan of Allocation intended to be estimates of
the amounts that will be paid to Eligible Claimants. Appendix I to the Distribution Plan details the Plan
of Allocation methodology and calculation which is designed to equitably distribute the Fair Fund to
those Eligible Investors who suffered economic losses. Appendix I to the Distribution Plan is posted on
the Fair Fund website at www.BiozoomFairFund.com.

Preliminary calculations will be made for all Eligible Claimants on a pro rata basis determined by an
Eligible Claimant’s investment in Biozoom common stock divided by the sum of all Eligible Claimants’
investments in the Biozoom common stock. After the preliminary calculations have been made, any
Eligible Claimant whose preliminary calculation amount is less than the Distribution De Minimis
Amount of $§10 will be removed from the pool of Eligible Claimants.

Final calculations will then be made for all remaining Eligible Claimants on a pro rata basis as
described above, but excluding Eligible Claimants whose preliminary calculation amounts are less than
the Distribution De Minimis Amount, to arrive at a Recognized Claim amount. In the event that the
number of claims submitted by Eligible Claimant(s) is such that the Eligible Claimant(s) would receive
a recovery in excess of their Recognized Claim amount, the recovery per claim is limited to the
Recognized Claim. The excess amount in the Fair Fund shall be distributed to the U.S Treasury.

Fund Administration

On August 25, 2015, the Commission issued an Order appointing KCC as the Distribution Agent, to
assist in overseeing the administration and distribution of the Fair Fund in coordination with
Commission staff, pursuant to the terms of the Distribution Plan.

Fair Fund

The Fair Fund is a “Qualified Settlement Fund” (“QSF”) as defined in U.S. Treas. Reg. Sec. 1.468B-1 et
seq. The distribution is intended to compensate you for losses incurred with respect to your investment
in Biozoom common stock as a result of the conduct described in the Order.

Generally, your distribution is not income to you to the extent of your basis in your investment.
However, you must reduce your basis by the amount of your distribution. If your distribution exceeds
your tax basis in your investment, then the excess is includable in your income as capital gain. Any
such capital gain is long-term capital gain, unless you disposed of your investment before holding it for
longer than one year. If you do not have reasonable access to records indicating the tax basis of your

[A]



investment, then vou may assume that your tax basis is zero and that the entire losses component of your
distribution 1s includable in your income as capital gain. The QSF is not required to — and will not —
issue a Form 1099 to you with respect to the losses component of the distribution.

You should consult your tax advisor or accountant as to the treatment of the payment you are receiving
under this Fair Fund, as the Distribution Agent and the SEC cannot provide you with tax advice.

How to Participate

If you believe you are a Potential Claimant and would like to participate, you must follow the enclosed
instructions and complete the Proof of Claim Form included in this packet. Fill out the Proof of Claim
Form completely, sign it, include copies of all required supporting documentation, and return it in the
enclosed envelope to the Distribution Agent’s address listed below.

Excluded Parties shall mean Defendants, Biozoom, and all other entities or individuals who improperly
helped in establishing a market for, and escalating the price of, Biozoom stock, based on the stock
trading of those entities or individuals.

The submission of the Proof of Claim Form and the receipt and acceptance of a distribution by an
Eligible Claimant is not intended to be a release of an Eligible Claimant’s rights and claims against any

party.

Deadline to Submit a Claim October 31, 2016
More Information
Website www.BiozoomFairFund.com
Write Biozoom Fair Fund
Distribution Agent
clo KCC

P.O. Box 30233
College Station, TX 77842-3233

Phone 1-855-730-8647

Investor Options for this Fair Fund

Submit a Claim The only way to get a payment from the Fair Fund.
Do Nothing Receive no payment.

Questions

This notice provides only summary information regarding the Fair Fund. We strongly recommend that
you read the Distribution Plan, including the Plan of Allocation, and other relevant case documents in
their entirety for more complete details. The documents can be found at www.BiozoomFairFund.com.

If you need assistance completing the Proof of Claim Form or if you have any questions about this Fair
Fund, you may obtain more information by visiting the Fair Fund website at
www.BiozoomFairFund.com, by calling the dedicated toll-free number at 1-855-730-8647 or sending an
email inquiry to info@BiozoomFairFund.com.



Special Notice to Brokers and Nominees

If you purchased or held Biozoom common stock for the beneficial interest of a person or organization
other than yourself, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of this Fair Fund Notice you must
either: (1) request additional copies of the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Form from the
Distribution Agent, and, within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of such copies, send copies by
first-class mail directly to beneficial owners; or (2) provide a list of the names and last known addresses
of the beneficial owners (preferably in excel format) to the Distribution Agent by email to
notifications@Gilardi.com or by mail to the following address:

Biozoom Fair Fund
c/o KCC
P.O. Box 30233
College Station, TX 77842-3233

If you choose to mail the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Form yourself, you may obtain from the
Distribution Agent (without cost to you) as many additional copies of these documents as you will need
to complete the mailing. If you choose the second option, KCC will send a copy of the Fair Fund Notice
and Proof of Claim Form to the persons and/or entities whose names and address you supply.

In either case, you may obtain reimbursement for reasonable administrative costs actually incurred in
connection with forwarding the Fair Fund Notice that would not have been incurred but for the
obligation to forward the Fair Fund Notice and Proof of Claim Form, upon submission of appropriate
documentation to the Distribution Agent.-

Regards,

KCC
Distribution Agent
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V.

MAGDALENA TAVELLA,

ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO
GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO,
ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN,

DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN,
MARIANO PABLO FERRAR],

MARIANO GRACIARENA, and

FERNANDO LOUREYRO,

Defendants.

'| USDC 81N
DOCUMENT
ELECTRONICALLY FILED h
DOC #:
DATE FILED:_12/08/2014

Civil Action No. 13-CIV-4609 (NRB)

Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald

FINAL JUDGMENT AS TO DEFENDANTS MARIANO GRACIARENA
AND FERNANDO LOUREYRO

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Plaintiff”) having filed a

Complaint and Defendants Mariano Graciarena (“Graciarena”) and Fernando Loureyro

(“Loureyro™) (collectively, the “Defendants™ for purposes of this Final Judgment), having

entercd a general appearance; consented to the Court’s jurisdiction over Defendants and the

subject matter of this action; consented to entry of this Final Judgment without admitting or

denying the allegations of the Complaint (except as to jurisdiction); waived findings of fact and

conclusions of law; and waived any right to appcal from this Final Judgment:
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I

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that within three (3) days
of service upon him of a copy of this Final Judgment, Graciarena shall provide written
instruction in the form attached to Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return
Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1115,
representing 2.145 million shares issued in the name Mariano Augusto Graciarena and deposited
into Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account -xxxxx8720 bearing his name, to the
company’s transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayetic Place, Woodmere, NY 11598,
with instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as “cancellation” is defined in
Securitics Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(1) (17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(1)]. Graciarcna shall
copy the Plaintiff on all correspondence to or from Alpine Securitics or the company’s transfer
agent concerning cancellation of the foregoing stock certificate.

11.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that within three (3) days
of service upon him of a copy of this Final Judgment, Loureyro shall provide written instruction
in the form attached to instruct Alpine Sccuritics and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return
Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1111,
representing 2.3 million shares issued in the name Fernando Loureyro and deposited into
Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account -xxxxx7518 bearing his name, to the company’s
transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, with
instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as “cancellation” is defined in

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(1) [17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(1)]. Loureyro shall

[§%]
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copy the Plaintiff on all correspondence to or from Alpine Sccurities or the company’s transfer
agent concerning cancellation of the forcgoing stock certificate.
I1L.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendants shall
relinquish all claim, title or interest in Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom,
Inc.) stock certificates held in their name, except as necessary to effectuate the cancellations
described in paragraphs | and 11 of this Final Judgment.

V.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the Consent is
incorporated herein with the same force and cffect as if fully set forth herein, and that
Defendants shall comply with all of the undertakings and agreements set forth thercin.

V.,
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court shail rctain

jurisdiction of this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final Judgment.

Dated: {gmﬁaﬂ’é/ﬂ()]d / (\;2'((;%/

Hon. Naomi Reice Buchwald
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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EXHIBIT A
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Date: ,2014

Alpinc Securities

Aun.: Legal — Physical Certificale Deposit
39 Exchange Place

Salt'Lake City, UT 84111

Scotisdale Capital Advisors
Attn.: D, Michael Cruz
7170 . McDonald Drive
Scottsdale, AZ 85253

Re:  Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate
number 1115 - Alpine Sccurities brokerage account #, 8720

To Whom It May Concern:

By this letter, [ am instructing Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to retwn
Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1115
(representing 2.145 million shares issued in the name Mariano Augusto Graciarena and
deposited into Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account #8720 in my name) to the
company’s transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598,
with instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as “cancellation” is defined in

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(1) [17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(1)].

Enclosed for your information is a copy of an order of the U.S. District Court for the

Southern District of New York directing the cancellation of the above-reference certificate.

Sincerely,

Mariano Augusto Graciarena

Buenos Aires, Argentina

cc: Patrick M. Bryan
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F. Street, NE
Washington, DC 20005
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Date: , 2014

Alpinc Securities

Aun.: Legal - Physical Certificate Deposit
39 Exchange Place

Salt Lake City, UT 84111

Scottsdale Capital Advisors
Attn.: D. Michael Cruz
7170 E. McDonald Drive
Scottsdale, AZ 85253

Re:  Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate

number 1111 - Alpine Securities brokerage account #-7518

To Whom It May Concern:

By this letter, I am instructing Alpine Securities and Scottsdale Capital Advisors to return
Entertainment Art, Inc. (currently known as Biozoom, Inc.) stock certificate number 1111
(representing 2.3 million shares issued in the name Fernando Loureyro and deposited into
Scottsdale Capital Advisors brokerage account # JJili7518 in my name) to the company’s
transfer agent, VStock Transfer, LLC, 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, with
instructions that the transfer agent cancel the certificates, as “cancellation” is defined in

Securities Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-19(a)(1) [17 CFR §240.17Ad-19(a)(1)].

Enclosed for your information is a copy of an order of the U.S. District Court for the

Southern District of New York directing the cancellation of the above-reference certificate.

Sincerely,

Fernando Loureyro
Buenos Aires, Argentina

aer Patrick M. Bryan
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F. Street, NE
Washington, DC 20005
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

: [ usbc SDNY
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE : DOCUMENT |
COMMISSION, i ELECTRONICALLY FILED
e ' DOC #:
Plainuft, .
DATE FILED: '/ 4[12iS
X
MAGDALENA TAVELLA, P
ANDRES HORACIO FICICCHIA. GONZALO ~ :  Civil Action No. 13-CIV-4609
GARCIA BLAYA., LUCIA MARIANA : o
HERNANDO. CECILIA DE LORENZO. . Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald

ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN,
DANIELA PATRICIA GOLDMAN,
MARIANO PABLO FERRARI,
MARIANO GRACIARENA, and
FERNANDO LOUREYRO.

Defendants.

FINAL DEFAULT JUDGMENT AND ORDER GRANTING INJUNCTIVE AND
OTHER RELIEF AGAINST DEFENDANTS MAGDALENA TAVELLA, ANDRES
HORACIO FICICCHIA, GONZALO GARCIA BLAYA, LUCIA MARIANA
HERNANDO, CECILIA DE LORENZO, ADRIANA ROSA BAGATTIN, DANIELA
PATRICIA GOLDMAN, AND MARIANO PABLO FERRARI

WHEREAS this matier came before this Court on the Motion of Plaintiff Securities
and Exchange Commission (“Commission™), sceking entry of a judgment by default. and
providing the relief requested in its Complaint against defendants Magdalena Tavella,
Andres Horacio Ficicchia. Gonzalo Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando, Cecilia De
Lorenzo. Adriana Rosa Bagattin, Danicla Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari
(collectively. the “Defaulting Defendants™): and

WHEREAS the Court has entered a Memorandum and Order dated January 6,

2015, in which the Court concluded that the Commission is entitled to a final judgment
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against the Defaulting Defendants that permanently enjoins them from violating Section
5 of the Securities Act of 1933 (*Securities Act™) [15 U.S.C. § 77(e)]. (2) orders the
Defaulting Defendants to individually disgorge ill-gotten gains. and (3) imposes civi]
penalties; and

WHEREAS the Court deferred judgment to afford the Commission an
opportunity to supplement its submission as to the amount of prejudgment interest that
should be disgorged; and

WHEREAS the Commission has submitted a proposed order “in lieu of such
sup'plcmcnlal submission on prejudgment interest,” which the Court interprets as
abandoning the Commission’s claim {o prejudgment interest on the disgorgement
amounts; it is hereby

ORDERED THAT:

I,
Defaulting Defendants. their agents. servants. employees, attorneys, and all

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this final

judgment by personal service or otherwise are permanently restrained and enjoined from

violating. directly or indirectly. Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §
77e] by. in the absence of any applicable exemption:

(a) Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security. making use of

any means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate

commerce or of the mails to sell such security through the use or medium

of any prospectus or otherwise;

12
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(b)  Unless a registration statement is in effect as to a security, carrying or
causing 1o be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any
means or instruments of transportation. any such seccurity for the purpose
of sale or for delivery after salc; or

(¢) Making use of any means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstale commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or
offer to buy through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any
security, unless a registration statement has been filed with the
Commission as to such security. or while the registration statement is the
subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior to the effective date of the
registration statement) any public proceeding or examination under
Section 8 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77h].

I

Defaulting Defendants (Magdalena Tavella, Andres Horacio Ficicchia, Gonzalo
Garcia Blaya, Lucia Mariana Hernando. Cecilia De Lorenzo, Adriana Rosa Bagattin.
Danicla Patricia Goldman, and Mariano Pablo Ferrari) are permanently barred I'_rom
participating in an offering of penny stock. including engaging in activities with a broker.
dealer, or issuer for purposes of issuing, trading, or inducing or attempting to induce the
purchase or sale of any penny stock as defined by Section 3(a)(51) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. §78c(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §

240.3a51-1].

1l
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I1.
Defendants are liable for disgorgement (representing profits gained as a result of
the conduct alleged in the Complaint), and civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the

Securities [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], in the following amounts:

Defendant Disgorgement Civil Penalty Total
Amount
Magdalena Tavella | $3,107.819 $160,000 $3.267.819
Andres Horacio $1.948.339 $160.000 $2.108.339
Ficicchia
Gonzalo Garcia $3.008.200 $160,000 $3.168.200
Blaya '
Lucia Mariana i $5.042.771 $160.000 $5.202,771
Hernando
Cecilia De Lorenzo | $4.801.536 $160.000 $4.961.536
Adriana Rosa $6,216.380 $160.000 $6.376.380
Bagattin
i

Daniela Patricia $3.764.306 $160.000 $3.924306
Goldman !
Mariano Pablo | $5.447.430 $160.000 $5,607.450
Ferrari [ !

Defendants shaf] satisfy these obligations within ten business days and make payment of
all funds to the Commission, which shall provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire
instructions upon request. The Defendants shall satisfy these obligations from proceeds
contained in their various accounts including, but not limited to. the following:

e Andres Horacio Ficicchia's account at Legend Securities. Inc. with account

number ending in “CICC"™.
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Andres Horacio Ficicchia’s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with
account number ending 2927.

Gonzalo Garcia Blaya's account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account number
ending in “LAYA".

Luciana Mariana Hernando’s account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account
number ending in “ANDO”.

Luciana Mariana Hernando’s account at Hellenic Bank Public Company Limited
in Lemesos, Cyprus, with an account number ending in — 1301.

Cecilia De Lorenzo’s account at Legend Securities, Inc. with account number
ending in “ENZO”.

Magdalena Tavella’s account Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account
number ending 3831.

Adriana Rosa Bagattin’s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account
number ending 5435.

Adriana Rosa Bagattin’s account at FBME Bank Limited in Nicosia, Cyprus, with
an account number ending in — 644.

Daniela Patricia Goldman’s account at Scottsdalc Capital Advisors, Inc. with
account number ending 3536.

Daniela Patricia Goldman’s account at CBH Compagnie Bancaire Helvetique SA
in Geneva, Switzerland with an account number ending in — 345.

Mariano Pablo Ferrari’s account at Scottsdale Capital Advisors, Inc. with account

4

number ending 5327.
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e Mariano Pablo Ferrari's account at HSBC Bank in Panama City, Panama, with an

account number ending in - 590.

e Mariano Pablo Ferrari’s account at Choice Bank Limited in Belize City, Belize,

with an account number ending in - 521.

1v.

In partial satisfaction of the amounts owed by Defendants pursuant to this Final

Judgment, the following entities shall transfer all funds and BIZM shares held in

Defaulting Defendants™ accounts (including the accounts listed below) and make payment

such funds and shares held in Defaulting Defendants’ names to the Commission, which

shall provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request:

A. Legend Securities LLC
1. Gonzalo Garcia Blaya
2. [Lucia Mariana Hernando
3. Andres Horacio Ficicchia
4. Cecilia De Lorenzo

B. Scotisdale Capital Advisors
1. Magdalena Tavella
2. Daniela Patricia Goldman
3. Adriana Rosa Bagattin
4. Mariano Pablo Ferrari
5. Andres Horacio Ficicchia

Payment may also be made directly from a bank account via Pay.gov through the SEC

website at htip//www.sec.eov/about/offices/ofm.htm.

Payment may also be made by
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certified check. bank cashier’s check. or United States postal money order payable to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, which shall be delivered or mailed to

Enterprise Services Center

Accounts Receivable Branch

6500 South MacArthur Boulevard

Oklahoma City, OK 73169
and shall be accompanied by a letter identifying the case title. civil action number, and
name of this Court; the name of the defendant in this action: and specifying that payment
is made pursuant to this Final Judgment.  Defaulting Defendant payer shall
simultaneously transmit photocopies of each such payment and letter to the
Commission’s counsel in this action: Patrick M. Bryan, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington.
D.C. 20549-4030. Defaulting Defendants relinquish all legal and equitable right, title,
and interest in all funds paid pursuant to this Final Judgment, and no part of the funds
shall be returned to Defaulting Defendants. The Commission may enforce the Court’s
judgment for disgorgement by moving for civil contempt (and/or through other collection
procedures authorized by law) at any time after ten days following entry of this Final
J legrﬂf:ﬂt In response to any such civil contempt motion by the Commission, Defaulting
Defendants may assert any legally permissible defense.

N

Further to the Stipulation and Order Granting Preliminary Injunction, Asset
Freeze. and Other Relief, entered on 7/17/2013 (the “Assel Freeze Order™) freczing the
assets of Defendants. including those held in the accounts referenced above in Section 111
and previously enumerated in the Asset I'reeze Order, the Court finds that such assets are
the proceeds of the violations alleged in the Commission’s Complaint. Accordingly,

pursuant to the Court’s personal jurisdiction over Defaulting Defendants, Defaulting
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Defendants are hereby ordered to repatriate the referenced assets by 30 days afier entry of
a judgment of default, to the Commission, which shall provide detailed ACH
transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request. and to execute any consents, pleadings, or
other legal documépls as the Commission may require to cffect the transfer of such assets
in accordance with this Final Judgment. with the understanding that such assets shall be
used to satisly disgorgement only.

YL

The Commission shall deposit the funds received pursuant to sections III, IV, and
V of this Final Judgment into an interest bearing account which. together with any
interest and income earned thereon (collectively. the “Fund™). shall be held in the interest
bearing account until further order of the Court.

The Commission may by motion propose a plan to distribute the Fund subject to
the Court’s approval. Such a plan may provide that Fund shall be distributed pursuant to
the Fair Fund provisions of Section 308(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Regardless of whether any such Fair Fund distribution is made, amounts ordered to be
paid as civil penalties pursuant to this Judgment shall be treated as penalties paid to the
government for all purposes. including all tax purposes. To preserve the deterrent effect
of the civil penalty. Defendants shall not, after offset or reduction of any award of
compensatory damages in any Related Investor Action based on any payment of
disgorgement in this action, argue that he, she or it is entitled to. nor shall he, she or it
further benefit by. offset or reduction of such compensatory damages award by the
amount of any part of Defendant’s payment of a civil penalty in this action ("Penalty

Offset"). If the court in any Related Investor Action grants such a Penalty Offset, the
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Defendant beneficiary of such Penalty Offset shall, within 30 days after entry of a final
order granting the Penalty Offset, notify the Commission's counsel in this action and pay
the amount of the Penalty Offset to the United States Treasury or to a Fair Fund. as the
Commission directs. Such a payment shall not be deemed an additional civil penalty and
shall not be deemed to change the amount of the civil penalty imposed in this Judgment.
For purposes of this paragraph, a “Related Investor Action” means a private damages
action brought against a Defendant in this action by or on bchalf of one or more investors
based on substantially the same facts as alleged in the Complaint in this action.
Defendants shall pay post-judgment interest on any delinquent amounts pursuant to 28
USC § 1961.
Y,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court
shall retain jurisdiction over this matter for the purposes of enforcing the terms of this Final
Judgment.

VIIL.
RULE 54(b) CERTIFICATION

There being no just reason for delay, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure. the clerk is ordered to enter this Final Judgment forthwith and without

further notice.

DATED January 9. 2015.

NAOMI REICE BUCHWALD
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE






UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
Release No. 10496 / May 15, 2018

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Release No. 83236 / May 15, 2018

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940
Release No. 33097 / May 15, 2018

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
File No. 3-18483

In the Matter of ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
TIMOTHY C. SCARPINO, DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT
Respondent. OF 1933, SECTIONS 15(b) AND 21C OF

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934, AND SECTION 9(b) OF THE
INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT, MAKING
FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST
ORDER AND NOTICE OF HEARING

Is

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate and in the
public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are,
instituted against Timothy C. Scarpino (“Scarpino” or “Respondent™) pursuant to Section 8A of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act™), Sections 15(b) and 21C of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act (“Investment
Company Act™).

I1.

In anticipation of the institution of these proceedings, Respondent has submitted an Offer
of Settlement (the “Offer”) which the Commission has determined to accept. Solely for the
purpose of these proceedings and any other proceedings brought by or on behalf of the
Commission, or to which the Commission is a party, and without admitting or denying the findings
herein, except as to the Commission’s jurisdiction over him and the subject matter of these



proceedings, which are admitted, and except as provided herein in Section IV, Respondent
consents to the entry of this Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist Proceedings,
Pursuant to 8A of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 15(b) and 21C of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act, Making Findings, and Imposing
Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-Desist Order and Notice of Hearing (“Order™), as set forth
below.

I1.
On the basis of this Order and Respondent’s Offer, the Commission finds' that:
Summary

From late May 2013 to mid-June 2013, Timothy Scarpino (“Scarpino”), then a registered
representative at registered broker-dealer Scottsdale Capital Advisors (“Scottsdale™), willfully
violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act when he engaged in the illegal distribution of
the securities of Biozoom, Inc. (“Biozoom” or “BIZM”) by offering and selling shares of BIZM,
which was quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”), on behalf of four
Argentine customers (the “Argentines”). The scope of this illegal distribution was massive, as
Scarpino offered and sold approximately 8.2 million BIZM shares, which constituted almost 14%
of BIZM’s total outstanding shares, and over 40% of BIZM’s total number of shares that did not
bear a restrictive legend. The Argentines reaped proceeds of over $18.5 million from the less than
four weeks of trading activity facilitated by Scarpino.

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act make it unlawful for any person, directly or
indirectly, to offer or sell securities by any means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce unless a registration statement has been filed with the
Commission with respect to Section 5(c) and is in effect with respect to Section 5(a), or an
applicable exemption from registration applies. This governs resales of deposited securities, such
as Scarpino’s sales of the BIZM shares on behalf of the Argentines. No registration statement was
in effect as to Scarpino’s BIZM offers and sales, and no exemption from registration was
applicable to them. Although brokers may rely on an exemption under Section 4(a)(4) of the
Securities Act, this exemption would be available to Scarpino for the offers and sales of BIZM
only if, after engaging in a reasonable inquiry into the facts surrounding the proposed sales,
Scarpino was not aware of facts indicating that the customers would be engaging in an unlawful
distribution of securities. Moreover, because Scarpino was presented with red flags of a potential
unlawful distribution, he needed to conduct a searching inquiry to determine that the proposed
sales were not part of an unlawful distribution of securities. Despite these significant red flags,
Scarpino failed to conduct a searching inquiry into facts surrounding the proposed sales, and
thereby violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act.

Respondent

The findings herein are made pursuant to Respondent’s Offer of Settlement and are not binding on any
other person or entity in this or any other proceeding.
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1. Timothy Scarpino, 35, resides in Scottsdale, Arizona. Scarpino was, from 2009
until 2013, a registered representative at Scottsdale. Currently, he is not working in the securities
industry.

Relevant Entity

2. Scottsdale has been registered with the Commission as a broker-dealer with its
principal place of business in Scottsdale, Arizona since May 2002.

Facts

A. Scarpino Opens Foreign Accounts at Scottsdale Based on Referrals from James
Benjamin Panther IT

~

3. In or around early May 2013, James B. Panther II (“Panther”), a longtime
Scottsdale customer, informed Scarpino and Scottsdale’s owner (the “Owner”) that Panther
planned to refer several individuals to open brokerage accounts and deposit stock certificates at
Scottsdale. The Owner told Scarpino that Panther had referred significant business to Scottsdale
in the past and that Scarpino should provide special treatment to Panther’s referrals because
Panther was an important customer.

4, On May 2, 2013, Scarpino emailed an associate of Panther’s (“Panther
Associate”), writing that Panther had suggested that Scottsdale might be able to assist Panther
Associate in “depositing OTC/Pinksheet stocks.” Scarpino attached Scottsdale account opening
forms for foreign customers to his email.

5. Panther Associate provided Scarpino the names and email addresses of four
individuals who Panther was referring to Scottsdale — the Argentines. Scarpino then emailed
each of the Argentines offering to assist them in opening accounts and depositing shares at
Scottsdale.

6. Starting on May 10, 2013, the Argentines opened accounts at Scottsdale with
Scarpino as their registered representative. During the account-opening process, Scarpino
learned that the Argentines shared several unusual characteristics, which suggested that they
might be acting in-concert. In particular, Scarpino knew:

e Each of the Argentines stated that they intended to deposit physical certificates of
BIZM stock in significant amounts, ranging from 1.815 million to 2.37 million
shares for a total of 8.2 million shares; and

e Each of the Argentines requested the ability to place orders with Scarpino via
instant message, which was not a functionality that Scottsdale offered its
customers. .
7 The initial account opening documents Scarpino received for each of the
Argentines listed Panther as the referral source. In response to inquiries from Scarpino and
compliance personnel at Scottsdale, however, the Argentines claimed they did not know Panther.



Ultimately, Panther’s name was deleted from each of the account opening documents and the
referring source was left blank.

B. Panther Confirms His Connections to Biozoom and the Argentines

8. On May 15, 2013, Scarpino and the Owner flew on the Owner’s private jet to meet
with Panther in California to discuss the Argentines. During their meeting, Panther told Scarpino
that the Argentines planned to deposit share certificates into their respective accounts for trading.

9. Panther explained that he worked with Biozoom and similar start-up companies to
maintain their share prices. Panther also told Scarpino and the Owner that the Argentines could
bring a good amount of business to Scottsdale.

10.  Inreturn for what Panther suggested could be significant trading commissions to
Scottsdale, he confirmed specific accommodations for the accounts, several of which he had
previously requested. These accommodations included permitting the Argentines to place trades
through instant message and significantly reducing commissions for the Argentines. Although
some of these requests ran contrary to existing Scottsdale policies, the Owner directed Scarpino .
to grant them for Panther’s referrals.

11. Panther’s confirmation that he was connected with both Biozoom and the
Argentines was a red flag that the Argentines were potentially affiliates of BIZM.

C. Scarpino Was Aware of Red Flags as He Deposited Substantial Amounts of Penny
Stock for the Argentines

e On May 16, 2013 — the day after Scarpino’s meeting with Panther — the Argentines
began working with Scarpino to deposit physical certificates of Biozoom stock into their new
accounts. Scarpino knew that these certificates had been sent to Scottsdale from another broker-
dealer that had rejected the Argentines’ attempted deposits of the same certificates.

13. Each Argentine completed a Deposit Securities Request Questionnaire (“DSRQ™),
which was necessary for the certificates to be deposited. These DSRQs required the Argentines
to, among other things, explain how they obtained their shares and whether they planned to trade
the shares in concert with anyone else. The Argentines’ completed DSRQs provided no
information on Panther’s relationship or involvement with the Argentines, even though Scarpino
knew that Panther had referred them to Scottsdale and was connected both to them and to BIZM.

14. The Argentines’ DSRQs and related documentation raised numerous red flags of a
potential unregistered distribution, which Scarpino knew or should have known:

e The Argentines were depositing a large volume of BIZM stock, which had no
significant public trading in its history. Collectively, the Argentines’ certificates
represented 8.92 million BIZM shares, which constituted approximately 15% of
BIZM’s total outstanding shares, and approximately 44% of BIZM’s total shares
not bearing a restrictive legend;



* The Argentines claimed to have purchased their 8.9 million shares of BIZM at
prices between $0.003 and $0.005 per share, spending a total of only
approximately $33,000; and

e All of the Argentines’ certificates had been issued less than two months earlier,
and they all purportedly acquired their shares in transactions with investors in
Biozoom’s predecessor company between February 26 and March 5, 2013.2

15.  Because, as described above, Scarpino knew that the Argentines were connected
to Panther and further knew that Panther had previously discussed Biozoom with Scarpino and
the Owner, the numerous and significant red flags raised by the Argentines’ share deposits —
including the percentage of BIZM shares they controlled, nominal amounts they supposedly paid
for the shares, the recent issuance of their share certificates, and other evidence of their
connections to one another and to Panther — should have raised significant questions for Scarpino
about their possible involvement in an unregistered distribution of BIZM stock coordinated by
Panther. Scarpino, however, took no additional steps to investigate this possibility, and did not
inform anyone else at Scottsdale about the accumulation of red flags of which he was aware.

D. Scarpino Was Aware of Additional Red Flags During the Unregistered Distribution
of BIZM Stock

16.  From May 28, 2013 until June 19, 2013, Scarpino offered and sold approximately
8.2 million BIZM shares through the OTCBB for proceeds of nearly $18.6 million on behalf of the
Argentines. Given that the Argentines claimed to have paid a total of $32,700 for all of their
deposited shares, they realized aggregate returns of more than 56,000% on Scarpino’s sales of the
shares they had supposedly purchased less than four months earlier.

17.  No registration statement was filed or in effect with regards to Scarpino’s offers
and sales of the BIZM shares and no exemption from the registration requirements was available
for those sales. Throughout the trading period, even more red flags of an illegal unregistered
distribution appeared:

e The Argentines began liquidating their BIZM shares almost immediately after they
were cleared for trading;

e Scarpino’s offers and sales occurred amid a dramatic spike in trading of BIZM.
Prior to May 16, 2013, the stock of BIZM and its predecessor company had traded
once since its inception in 2007, a 300 share trade in November 2012 for $1.02 per
share. From May 16, 2013 to June 19, 2013, BIZM’s stock price increased from a
starting price of $1.10 per share to as high as $4.50 per share. Over the same
period, daily volume spiked from 10,000 shares to a high of 11.6 million shares.

ra

Biozoom came into existence on April 1, 2013 via a reverse merger with a penny stock company named
Entertainment Art, Inc. (“EERT"), followed by a name and ticker change. EERT was formed in 2007.



This market was completely inconsistent with the prior trading history of BIZM and
its predecessor company;

e This spike in activity coincided with a promotional campaign touting BIZM in
radio, web, and print ads. The promotional campaign also involved mailers put
out by third party media sources and was supported by numerous press releases
issued by the company; and

e As Scarpino completed liquidating all or substantially all of the BIZM shares on
behalf of an Argentine, that Argentine quickly asked Scarpino to wire out the
proceeds to offshore accounts. In total, between June 11 and June 24, the four
Argentines requested to wire out nearly $17 million, all of which was proceeds
from the sale of the recently-deposited and sold BIZM shares.

18. On June 25, 2013, the Commission suspended trading in the BIZM securities. On
July 3, 2013, the Commission charged four of the Argentine customers and others with violating
Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act. The Commission obtained default judgments against all
defendants in that matter. The Court granted injunctive relief and ordered the Argentines to pay
disgorgement of $18,535,955 and penalties of $640,000.

E. Scarpino Did Not Engage in a Reasonable Inquiry

19. Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit the offer and sale of securities
through interstate commerce or the mails, unless a registration statement is filed with the
Commission and is in effect, or the offer and sale are subject to an exemption. 15 U.S.C. §§
77e(a) and (c).

20. Section 4(a)(4) of the Securities Act exempts from the registration requirements
of Section 5 “brokers’ transactions executed upon customers’ orders on any exchange or in the
over-the-counter market but not the solicitation of such orders.” 15 U.S.C. § 77d(4). Rule
144(g)(4) provides that for a transaction to qualify as a “brokers’ transaction” under Section
4(a)(4), the broker must engage in a “reasonable inquiry” prior to the transaction, and after such
inquiry he must not be “aware of circumstances indicating that the person for whose account the
securities are sold is an underwriter® with respect to the securities or that the transaction is a part
of a distribution of securities of the issuer.” 15 U.S.C. § 77d(a)(4); 17 CFR § 230.144(g)(4).

21.  The “reasonable inquiry” should consider, among other factors:
o the length of time the seller has held the securities;

e the nature of the transaction in which the securities were acquired; and

3 Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act defines an underwriter as “any person who has purchased from an
issuer, with a view 1o, or offers or sells for an issuer in connection with, the distribution of any security, or
participates or has a direct or indirect participation in any such undertaking, or participates or has a
participation in the direct or indirect underwriting of any such undertaking.” 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(11).

6



¢ the number of shares of the class outstanding or the relevant trading volume.
Notes to 17 CFR § 230.144(g)(4).

22, However, certain facts and circumstances surrounding the transaction might
require additional inquiry in order for the broker to rely on the Section 4(a)(4) exemption. For
example:

A dealer who is offered a modest amount of a widely traded security by a responsible
customer, whose lack of relationship to the issuer is well known to him, may ordinarily
proceed with considerable confidence. On the other hand, when a dealer is offered a
substantial block of a little-known security, either by persons who appear reluctant to
disclose exactly where the securities came from, or where the surrounding circumstances
raise a question as to whether or not the ostensible sellers may be merely intermediaries
for controlling persons or statutory underwriters, then searching inquiry is called for.

Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered Securities, Securities Act Rel. No. 4445 (Feb. 2,
1962) (emphasis added). See also Bloomfield et al., Exchange Act Rel. No. 71632, at 5 (Feb. 27,
2014) (“The accounts received large blocks of privately obtained shares of obscure penny stocks.
Although the securities initially traded at low prices and in low volumes, the prices of, and
trading volume in, these securities quickly escalated around the time of large deposits into the [ ]
accounts. The escalation in prices and trading volume was generally associated with coordinated
transactions among the various [] accounts and often accompanied by spam email campaigns
touting the issuers’ prospects. Once prices had risen substantially, the accounts started selling
blocks of stocks. Eventually the stocks’ prices collapsed. These indicia raised red flags of a
possible unlawful distribution and market manipulation.”); Midas Securities, LLC and Jay S.
Lee, Exchange Act Rel. No. 66200, at 14 (Jan. 20, 2012) (holding that because “[t]he amount of
inquiry required necessarily varies with the circumstances of the proposed transaction,” in
certain circumstances, a broker-dealer may need to “conduct a searching inquiry to assure itself
that . . . proposed sales [are] exempt from the registration requirements and not part of an
unlawful distribution.”).

23, When conducting a reasonable inquiry, a registered representative may not rely on
others, such as counsel’s advice, to fulfill his reasonable inquiry obligation. Wonsover v. SEC,
205 F.3d 408, 415-16 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (rejecting registered representative’s reliance on clearing
firm, the transfer agent, counsel, and reliance on the clearance of sales by the “Restricted Stock

‘Department” of his firm); see also World Trade Financial Corp. v. SEC, 739 F.3d 1243, 1249
(9th Cir. 2014) (rejecting argument that duty of reasonable inquiry was satisfied by reliance on
third parties in conformity with industry practice and stating “brokers rely on third parties at their
own peril, and will not avoid liability through that reliance when the duty of reasonable inquiry
rests with the brokers™).

24, It is not sufficient “for [the registered representative] merely to accept ‘self-
serving statements of his sellers and their counsel without reasonably exploring the possibility of
contradictory facts.”” Distribution by Broker-Dealers of Unregistered Securities, Securities Act
Rel. No. 4445 (Feb. 2, 1962) (quoting SEC v. Culpepper, 270 F.2d 241, 251 (2d Cir. 1959)). Nor
may a broker “rely upon the absence of restrictive legends on the stock certificates when the
circumstances surrounding the transaction indicate the need for a thorough investigation.”



Transactions in the Securities of Laser Arms Corporation by Certain Broker-Dealers, Exch. Act
Rel. No. 34-28878, 1991 WL 292009 (Feb. 14, 1991).

25.  No registration statement was filed or in effect as to Scarpino’s offer and sale of the
BIZM shares on behalf of the Argentines and no exemption from the registration requirements was
available for these sales. Scarpino made use of means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell, sell, and deliver after sale the
BIZM shares to ‘the public.

26. Scarpino was presented with numerous and significant red flags raised by the
deposits of BIZM shares and subsequent sales of those shares, which should have raised questions
as to whether the Argentines were engaged in an unlawful distribution by, for example, acting as
underwriters. These red flags included:

e the Argentines opened new accounts and delivered physical certificates representing a
large block of thinly traded and low-priced securities;

e the deposited share certificates had been recently issued and represented a large
percentage of the float for the security;

e the Argentines had a pattern of depositing physical share certificates, immediately
selling the shares and then wiring out the proceeds to offshore accounts;

e there was a sudden spike in volume, coupled with a rising price in, a thinly traded and
low-priced security; and

e Scarpino had reason to believe the Argentines were acting in concert with one another
and in coordination with an affiliate of the issuer.

27. Throughout the process of opening the Argentines’ accounts, depositing their
certificates, and then offering and selling those shares into the market on behalf of the
Argentines, Scarpino was confronted with red flag after red flag that he was facilitating an
unregistered distribution of those shares. Despite the presence of these ample and glaring red
flags. Scarpino did not perform a “reasonable inquiry” regarding the facts and circumstances
surrounding those transactions, let alone the “searching inquiry” he was required to perform.

28. As a result of the conduct described above, Scarpino willfully violated Sections 5(a)
and 5(c) of the Securities Act.

-IV.

Pursuant to this Order, Respondent Scarpino agrees to additional proceedings in this
proceeding to determine what, if any, civil penalties pursuant to Section 8 A(g) of the Securities
Act against Respondent Scarpino are in the public interest. [n connection with such additional
proceedings: (a) Respondent Scarpino agrees that he will be precluded from arguing that he did
not violate the federal securities laws as described in this Order; (b) Respondent Scarpino agrees
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that he may not challenge the validity of this Order; (c) solely for the purposes of such additional
proceedings, the allegations of the Order shall be accepted as and deemed true by the hearing
officer; and (d) the hearing officer may determine the issues raised in the additional proceedings on
the basis of affidavits, declarations, excerpts of sworn deposition or investigative testimony, and
documentary evidence.

Y.

In view of the foregoing, the Commission deems it appropriate and in the public interest to
impose the sanctions agreed to in Respondent Scarpino’s Offer.

Accordingly, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, Sections 15(b) and 21C of the
Exchange Act, and Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act, it is hereby ORDERED that:

A.

B.

Respondent Scarpino shall cease and desist from committing or causing any
violations and any future violations of Sections 5(a) or 5(c) of the Securities Act.

Respondent Scarpino be, and hereby is:

barred from association with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal
securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized
statistical rating organization;

prohibited from serving or acting as an employee, officer, director, member of
an advisory board, investment adviser or depositor of, or principal underwriter
for, a registered investment company or affiliated person of such investment
adviser, depositor, or principal underwriter; and

barred from participating in any offering of a penny stock, including: acting as
a promoter, finder. consultant, agent or other person who engages in activities
with a broker, dealer or issuer for purposes of the issuance or trading in any
penny stock, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of any
penny stock,

with the right to apply for reentry after five (5) years to the appropriate self-
regulatory organization, or if there is none, to the Commission.

Any reapplication for association by Respondent Scarpino will be subject to the
applicable laws and regulations governing the reentry process, and reentry may be
conditioned upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the satisfaction
of any or all of the following: (a) any disgorgement ordered against the
Respondent, whether or not the Commission has fully or partially waived payment
of such disgorgement; (b) any arbitration award related to the conduct that served as
the basis for the Commission order; (c) any self-regulatory organization arbitration
award to a customer, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis
for the Commission order; and (d) any restitution order by a self-regulatory



organization, whether or not related to the conduct that served as the basis for the
Commission order.

D. Payment must be made in one of the following ways:

@) Respondent may transmit payment electronically to the Commission, which
will provide detailed ACH transfer/Fedwire instructions upon request;

@) Respondent may make direct payment from a bank account via Pay.gov
through the SEC website at http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/ofm.htm; or

(3) Respondent may pay by certified check, bank cashier’s check, or United
States postal money order, made payable to the Securities and Exchange
Commission and hand-delivered or mailed to:

Enterprise Services Center
Accounts Receivable Branch

HQ Bldg., Room 181, AMZ-341
6500 South MacArthur Boulevard
Oklahoma City, OK 73169

Payments by check or money order must be accompanied by a cover letter identifying Timothy
Scarpino as a Respondent in these proceedings, and the file number of these proceedings; a copy of
the cover letter and check or money order must be sent to Antonia Chion, Associate Director,
Division of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, 100 F St., NE, Washington, DC
20549.

It is further ORDERED, pursuant to Rule 100(c) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17
C.F.R. § 201.100(c), in the interest of justice and without prejudice to any party to the proceedings,
that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the questions set forth in Section IV
hereof shall be convened at a time and place to be fixed by, and before, an Administrative Law
Judge to be designated by further order as provided by Rule 110 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.110, following the entry of a final judgment against the last remaining
defendant(s) in any action(s) arising out of or related to the facts in this Order (“Related Actions”).

If Respondent Scarpino fails to appear at a hearing after being duly notified, Respondent
Scarpino may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be determined against him upon
consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be deemed to be true as provided by
Rules 155(a), 220(f), 221(f), and 310 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. §§
201.155(a), 201.220(f), 201.221(f), and 201.310.

This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondent Scarpino personally or by certified
mail.

It is further ORDERED pursuant to Rule 100(c) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17
C.F.R. § 201.100(c), in the interest of justice and without prejudice to any party, that the
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Administrative Law Judge shall issue an initial decision no later than 150 days from the date of the
entry of a final judgment in any Related Actions.

VI.

It is further Ordered that, solely for purposes of exceptions to discharge set forth in Section
523 of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 523, the findings in this Order are true and admitted by
Respondent, and further, any debt for disgorgement, prejudgment interest, civil penalty or other
amounts due by Respondent under this Order or any other judgment, order, consent order, decree
or settlement agreement entered in connection with this proceeding, is a debt for the violation by
Respondent of the federal securities laws or any regulation or order issued under such laws, as set
forth in Section 523(a)(19) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(19):

By the Commission.

Brent J. Fields
Secretary
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Respondents.

The Respondent firm violated FINRA Rule 2010 by selling securities without
registration and without an exemption, in contravention of Section S of the
Securities Act of 1933. The firm’s owner, Respondent John Hurry, also
violated Rule 2010, because he engaged in activities designed to enable the
unlawful transactions and evade regulatory scrutiny.

The Respondent firm and its Chief Compliance Officer, Respondent Timothy
DiBlasi, violated NASD Rules 3010(a) and (b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by
failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written

' The original Extended Hearing Panel Decision has been amended to correct a factual error. The amendment does
not change the substance of the decision.



supervisory procedures, reasonably designed to ensure that the firm
complied with Section 5 of the Securities Act.

The Respondent firm and its President, Respondent Michael Cruz, violated
NASD Rule 3010(b) and FINRA Rule 2010 by failing to supervise and failing
to respond appropriately to numerous red flags indicative of unlawful
unregistered distributions.

The Respondent firm is fined $1.5 million. Hurry is barred in all capacities.
He would also be fined $100,000, but, in light of the bar, the fine is not
imposed. DiBlasi is suspended for two years and fined $50,000. Cruz is
suspended for two years and fined $50,000. In addition, Respondents are
ordered to pay costs, for which they are jointly and severally liable.

Appearances

For the Complainant: Jeffrey D. Pariser, Esq., Gregory R. Firehock, Esq., Laura Leigh
Blackston, Esq., and Heather L. Freiburger, Esq., Department of Enforcement, Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority.

For the Respondents: Kevin I. Hamisch, Esq., Michael J. Edney, Esq., and Ryan E. Meltzer,
Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP.
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DECISION
L. INTRODUCTION

A. The Respondent Firm

The Respondent firm, Scottsdale Capital Advisors Corporation (“Scottsdale” or the
“Firm”), is primarily engaged in the business of liquidating penny stocks for its customers
without registration. The sale of securities without registration is unlawful unless an exemption
exists. In selling securities without registration, Scottsdale usually relies on a “safe harbor”
exemption created by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), Rule 144. But the
securities at issue here did not qualify for the Rule 144 exemption. Thus, the sales were
unlawful. .

1. The Firm Relied On The Rule 144 Exemption

SEC Rule 144 is highly detailed and technical. It both restricts some transactions and
permits others that meet certain conditions. It comes into play where securities have been
acquired from the issuer or an affiliate in an unregistered private transaction. Such securities
typically are marked with a restrictive legend, and the holder may not sell such securities in the
public marketplace unless an exemption applies to the sale.

In determining whether a sale of securities is exempt from registration under Rule 144, a
broker-dealer must conduct an inquiry that focuses primarily on identifying the individual who is
the beneficial owner of the securities to be sold, analyzing that person’s relationship (if any) to
the issuer of the securities, investigating the circumstances of that person’s acquisition of the
securities, and calculating how long the person has held the securities. Rule 144 imposes
different holding periods on affiliates and non-affiliates of an issuer before they can resell the
issuer’s securities. In some circumstances, the holder can “tack’ his holding period to that of his
predecessor in the chain of holders to meet the applicable holding period.

The purpose of the Rule 144 inquiry 1s to ensure that the transaction is not a subterfuge
for an issuer or its affiliates to distribute securities to the public while evading the disclosure
requirements that accompany registration. Representations made by the parties interested in
selling the securities must be carefully scrutinized by a broker-dealer firm because of the
incentive to misrepresent the circumstances and conceal the true beneficial owners.

2. The Firm Lacked A Basis For “Tacking” To Achieve The Required
Holding Period Under SEC Rule 144

In the transactions at issue, the purported beneficial owners claimed that neither they nor
their predecessors were affiliates of the issuer. Their lack of affiliate status was critical to their
ability to sell the shares pursuant to SEC Rule 144 because of the shorter holding period and
fewer restrictions on non-affiliates.
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Even as non-affiliates, however, none of the purported beneficial owners of the shares
that Scottsdale accepted for resale had held the shares long enough to qualify for the Rule 144
safe harbor holding period. Each seller therefore claimed that the applicable Rule 144 holding
period was satisfied by tacking his holding period to the holding period of a prior holder.

In the transactions at issue, one prior holder claimed that he had forgiven a loan that he
had made to the issuer and had exchanged the right to payment on the loan for stock. One of the
prior holders forgave a promissory note that the issuer had used to pay him for consulting
services. Another prior holder claimed to have extended an oral line of credit to the issuer and
then to have accepted shares in satisfaction of a sum owed on the line of credit. A third prior
holder forgave a portion of a promissory note extending an open-ended line of credit.

Each of these prior holders received the shares around the same time that he transferred
them. Thus, the prior holder did not actually hold the shares long enough for his successor to
satisfy the applicable holding period by tacking, creating an impediment to resale.

To overcome that impediment, the sellers of the securities claimed the benefit of another
tacking provision under Rule 144. Rule 144 provides that where a holder of a security exchanges
that security for another of the same issuer’s securities, without any additional compensation, the
holder may tack the holding period of the first security to the holding period of the second. The
theory is that the exchange of one security for another of the same issuer does not change the
nature of the holder’s capital at risk, so the holding period for the new security can tack back to
the date the old security was acquired. The sellers here characterized their prior holders’
exchanges of notes for stock as exchanges of one security for another. On that basis, the sellers
claimed that they could tack back to the inception of the prior holders’ loans.

Whether the first instrument in the chain was a security is thus a threshold issue. The
Firm treated the prior holders’ promissory notes and lines of credit as securities and the
conversion of that debt into stock as the exchange of one security of the issuer for another
security of the same issuer. As a result, the Firm concluded that the sellers were permitted to tack
their holding period all the way back to the inception of the prior holders’ loans.

The Firm erred. The promissory notes and lines of credit were not securities. Rather, they
were ordinary debt liabilities. Accordingly, the purported beneficial owners could not establish
the requisite holding period, and the Rule 144 exemption did not exist.

3. The Firm Also Failed To Address Red Flags Signaling Unlawful
Distributions

The transactions at issue involved persons seeking to sell large blocks of thinly traded,
little-known securities acquired in a chain of private transactions originating with the issuer—
generally a red flag that the SEC and FINRA have both said requires a “searching inquiry.” The
sellers acquired the shares from the prior holders and sought to resell the shares almost
immediately. The immediate resale of a large block of stock that has never been the subject of
registration disclosures strongly suggests an attempt to distribute securities to the public without



registration. In addition, there were a large number of discrepancies and suspicious
circumstances indicating that sham transactions, false documents, and nominees were being used
to evade the securities laws and effect unlawful securities sales without registration. These red
flags ought to have been investigated and appropriately resolved before the securities could be
sold.

The Firm, however, blinded itself to the multiple red flags signaling that the transactions
were unlawful public distributions of securities. It did not conduct the required searching inquiry.
It sold the securities without a reasonable basis for a Rule 144 exemption. Because of the
suspicious circumstances known to the Firm, it also was not entitled to the so-called “broker’s
exemption” under Section 4(4) of the Securities Act for ordinary trading.

B. Other Respondents
1. John Hurry

Scottsdale is owned indirectly by Respondent John Hurry and his wife, Justine Hurry,
through other entities they own and control. John Hurry also owns the clearing firm that handles
Scottsdale’s business, Alpine Securities Corporation (“Alpine”), and an off-shore foreign
financial institution (“FFI”) located in the Cayman Islands, Cayman Securities Clearing and
Trading SECZ, Ltd. (“CSCT™).

Hurry set up CSCT in 2013 to act as a conduit through which other FFIs could deposit
penny stocks at Scottsdale for resale in the U.S. securities market. During the relevant period,
December 1, 2013, through June 30, 2014, CSCT deposited billions of shares of penny stocks for
resale by Scottsdale. All the transactions at issue were routed through CSCT to Scottsdale.

2. Timothy DiBlasi

Respondent Timothy DiBlasi became Scottsdale’s chief compliance officer (“CCO”)
shortly before the events at issue, and he remains its CCO. He maintains, however, that his
responsibilities do not extend to the Firm’s Rule 144 business.

3. Michael Cruz

Respondent Michael Cruz was the Firm'’s president, but now serves as general counsel to
the collection of Hurry enterprises. During the relevant period, Cruz had final approval authority
over the Rule 144 transactions at issue. In that role, he reviewed the information collected by
others and determined whether it was sufficient to approve a deposit of stock certificates for
resale. Everyone at the Firm, including Henry Diekmann, who headed the Firm’s Rule 144 team
at the time of the transactions at issue, and who is now the Firm’s president, considered Cruz
responsible for Rule 144 compliance.



. Parties To The Transactions At Issue

This case concerns Scottsdale’s sales of stock issued by three little-known companies—
Neuro-Hitech Inc. (“NHPI”), VoipPal.com (“VPLM?”), and Orofino Gold Corp. (“ORFG™).
CSCT deposited millions of the three issuers’ shares in certificate form at Scottsdale for resale.
Alpine cleared them, and Scottsdale sold them into the U.S. securities market pursuant to Rule
144 without registration.

In making the deposits of NHPI, VPLM, and ORFG stock, CSCT acted on behalf of three
other FFIs: (i) Montage Securities (“Montage™), (ii) Titan International Securities (“Titan™), and
(iii) Unicorn International Securities (“Unicorn™). Montage was located in Panama; Titan and
Unicorn were in Belize. The FFls, in turn, purported to act for the benefit of other entities, which
were represented to be owned by individuals identified in documents as the beneficial owners of
the shares.

IL PROCEDURAL HISTORY

FINRA’s Department of Enforcement (“Enforcement”) filed the Complaint on May 15,
2015. After an extension of time, Respondents filed an Answer on June 26, 2015. On December
11, 2015, Respondents filed a motion for summary disposition that challenged FINRA’s
authority to bring a disciplinary action for misconduct associated with the sale of unregistered
securities. Briefing on the motion was completed on January 29, 2016. The Hearing Officer
issued an Order on February 26, 2016, denying the motion and finding that FINRA has authority
to bring this proceeding.

The hearing ran a total of 12 days in two sessions. The first session in Los Angeles,
California, was held June 13-24, 2016. The second session in Washington, D.C. was held July
11-12, 2016. Ten witnesses testified at the hearing, including two experts.” In addition, the full
transcript of an on-the-record interview (“OTR”) was admitted into evidence, along with more

% In addition to Hurry, DiBlasi, and Cruz, the following persons testified: Henry Diekmann, the Firm’s current
president; Jay Noiman, a former Scottsdale employee who served as CCO until DiBlasi took on that responsibility;
David Byrne, a FINRA examiner who is a manager of the AML Investigative Unit; Craig D’Mura, a former
Scottsdale employee who worked for a couple of months at CSCT; Christopher Frankel, the current CEO of Alpine;
Marc Menchel, Respondents’ expert; and Brian Underwood, Enforcement’s rebuttal expert.

References to hearing testimony are in the following format: “Hearing Tr. (last name of witness), page of
transcript.” For example, Hurry’s testimony is cited as “Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1542-43.”



than 200 other exhibits.> On September 9, 2016, Enforcement and Respondents each filed one
post-hearing brief.*

II1. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS
A. Jurisdiction

FINRA has jurisdiction to bring this proceeding against Scottsdale, Hurry, and DiBlasi
because they are currently registered, and the Complaint charges them with misconduct
committed while they were registered. FINRA has jurisdiction as to Cruz although he is no
longer registered, because the Complaint was filed within two years of the time he was registered
and it charges him with misconduct committed while he was registered.’

B. Background

We provide substantial background regarding Respondents and others connected to the
transactions at issue to provide the context needed to understand the transactions, the Firm’s

* Gregory V. Ruzicka, who worked at CSCT during the relevant period, gave an OTR on May 27, 2015. The OTR
became an exhibit. Complainant’s exhibits are referred to with the prefix “CX” and an identifying number.
Respondents’ exhibits are referred to with the prefix “RX” and an identifying number. Joint exhibits are referred to
with the prefix “JX” and an identifying number. Ruzicka’s OTR is CX-178.

* References to the post-hearing briefs are as follows: Enf. PH Br. and Resp. PH Br. Respondents attached graphs
and other materials to their post-hearing brief that were not offered or admitted into evidence. Respondents
apparently created the graphs after the hearing based on exhibits that were admitted into the record. However, the
graphs were not subject to any testimony explaining their creation or testing their accuracy. Respondents’ post-
hearing brief also contained references to website articles that were not admitted into the record. No copies of the
articles were attached to the post-hearing brief. Respondents have not asked permission to reopen the record to
admit any of these materials. Respondents simply refer and rely on the non-record materials. The Hearing Panel has
not considered any of the following items (or assertions made in argument based on them) in formulating its
decision:
e  Huperzine A in Alzheimer’s Disease—website article relating to NHPI (Resp. PH Br. 5, n.9);
e Same (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.20);
e OTCMarkets.com website on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.22);
¢ The Markets OTCQB website article on VPLM (Resp. PH Br. 7, n.23);
Historical price figures derived from data on OTCMarkets.com (Resp. PH Br. 12, n.58);
e A purported page from a FINRA Continuing Education Module (Resp. PH Br. 17, n.86; Appendix
A);
*  Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-264 and JX-268 (Resp. PH Br. 19,
n.94; Appendix B);
¢  Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-279 and JX-281 (Resp. PH Br. 25,
n.129; Appendix C);
e  Graphs generated by Respondents purporting to use data in JX-308 and JX-310 (Resp. PH Br. 29,
n.155; Appendix D); and
e  Statement about trading volume attributable to CSCT’s sales of ORFG (Resp. PH Br. 29, n.156;
statement made without reference to source of information or record citation).

* FINRA By-Laws, Art. IV, Section 6; Art. V, Section 4.



culture, and the Respondents’ failure to take reasonable action in response to obvious red flags in
connection with the transactions at issue. The background also provides information important in
assessing the witnesses’ credibility, and in evaluating the Respondents’ likely future compliance
with the laws and regulations governing Scottsdale’s business.

1. Respondents
Ao Scottsdale
i. The Firm’s Focus On Rule 144 Business

Scottsdale, which is located in Scottsdale, Arizona, has been a FINRA member since
2002.° During the relevant period, the Firm had approximately 14 to 20 employees.’

Scottsdale’s principal business is the deposit and liquidation of penny stocks for its
customers.® Throughout the proceeding, the penny stocks sold by Scottsdale were also referred to
as “microcap” securities.” Scottsdale sells most of these securities without registration. The
primary exemption that Scottsdale relies on is Rule 144, so it has a dedicated Rule 144 team to
review deposits of stock certificates for resale, and its procedures are oriented to Rule 144.1°
Scottsdale obtains customers by advertising in OTC Markets and through referrals."’

ii. The Firm’s Direct Business With FFIs

Prior to Hurry’s creation of CSCT in 2013, Scottsdale did business with FFIs directly.
Two of the FFIs involved in this case (Titan and Unicorn) had pre-existing direct relationships
with Scottsdale before they started doing business through CSCT. 12

¢ CX-1, at 3-9.
" Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 116; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1496.

8 Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1318; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 83; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1180. DiBlasi acknowledged that during
the relevant period penny stock transactions accounted for most of the Firm’s revenues, and that over 95% of the
transactions that Scottsdale executed for its customers involved penny stocks, most of them unregistered. Hearing
Tr. (DiBlasi) 1923.

? Microcap securities may be defined as low-priced stock issued by small companies with a market capitalization of
$300 million or less. Microcap securities are generally more volatile and less liquid than the stock of larger
companies. Most important, because many microcap 1ssuers do not file financial reports with the SEC, it may be
difficult for investors to obtain information about the management, products, services, and finances of microcap
1ssuers. https://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/microcapstock htm. The SEC has expressed concern that the lack of
publicly available information about microcap issuers can enable the spread of false information that misleads
investors. /d. Many microcap securities trade in the “over-the-counter” (“OTC”) market instead of a national
exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. Id.

’“'Heaﬁng Tr. (Cruz) 577, 583; Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1952-54; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 818-19, 875-76, 834-86;
Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1600.
! Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 116.

12 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 192; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 727, 817-18; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1140-52.
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iii. The Firm’s Disciplinary History

Scottsdale has been disciplined previously for selling unregistered securities and having
inadequate supervisory procedures and written supervisory procedures (“WSPs”) to detect and
prevent the sale of unregistered securities. In October 2011, the Firm settled these and other
charges, agreeing to a censure and a total fine for all the charges of $125,000 (“2011
Settlement™)."?

The Firm has also settled other types of disciplinary charges against it, which are relevant
to the sanctions determinations. In 2009, it agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fine to settle charges
that it had bought bonds from customers at unfair prices (“2009 AWC”).* In August 2012, the
Firm settled charges that it had failed to take appropriate action after being on notice that one of
its representatives had been using his name and CRD number in stock promotion press releases.
The Firm agreed to a censure and a $7,500 fine (“2012 AWC”)." In 2015, the Firm agreed to a
censure and a fine of $10,000 to settle charges that it had submitted reports to FINRA for the
Order Aliléjit Trail System that were inaccurate, incomplete, or in the wrong format (“2015
AWC™).

iv. The Firm Had Notice That Sham Transactions And The
Use Of Nominees Were A Risk In Its Rule 144 Business
With FFIs

(a) Four Prior SEC Disciplinary Actions

We find that prior to the events at issue in this case, the Firm was on notice that its
business was susceptible to sham transactions and the use of nominees to conceal the true
beneficial owners of securities. In four disciplinary actions involving Scottsdale’s own
employees and customers, the SEC alleged that sham transactions and nominees were used in
unlawful sales in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933. Those unlawful sales in
turn were used to facilitate fraud and manipulation.

In December 2011, two of Scottsdale’s registered representatives were named in an SEC
complaint (“Ruettiger”) involving the supposed assignment of portions of a convertible note to
satisfy the applicable Rule 144 holding period, the use of nominees to conceal the identity of the
true beneficial owners, the use of a “pump-and-dump”'’ scheme to manipulate the market for the
stock, and an unlawful distribution of securities without registration. According to the complaint,

e 0 e
MOl
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B4,
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Pump-and-dump” schemes involve the touting of a company’s stock (typically small, so-called “microcap”
companies) through false and misleading statements to the marketplace. https://www.sec.gov/answers/

pumpdump.htm.
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Scottsdale’s registered representatives handled some of the accounts involved in the scheme, and
one of them had an interest in an entity that received and sold some of the securities. The
complaint alleged that a single person had used 16 Panamanian corporations to conceal his
identity and enable him to sell approximately $6 million of stock without registration.'®

In March 2013, the SEC filed a complaint (“Gibraltar I'") against a number of people and
entities alleging a market manipulation scheme that was facilitated by a Scottsdale customer,
Gibraltar. That complaint alleged that individual defendants had secretly sold shares through
Gibraltar while simultaneously promoting the stocks and encouraging others to buy. It also
alleged that Gibraltar had provided false affidavits and misleading statements that allowed an
individual defendant to secretly sell shares of companies he was promoting,'’

In April 2013, the SEC filed a second complaint against Gibraltar and its owner
(“Gibraltar II), alleging that they had facilitated unlawful sales of securities without registration
through the use of nominees. According to that complaint, Gibraltar liquidated low-price, thinly
traded stocks on behalf of its clients, often during periods of suspicious promotion. Gibraltar
assisted its clients to incorporate international business corporations (“IBCs”) and encouraged
them to use nominee officers and directors so that their identities would remain confidential. The
SEC charged that two persons had opened “fake nominee accounts™ at Scottsdale.*

Gibraltar had been a direct customer of Scottsdale since before the spring of 2010, at least
two years before the SEC filed charges against it.”! It shut down after the filing of the two
Gibraltar complaints, and some of its customers transferred to Titan, one of the FFIs involved in

; 22
this case.

In July 2013, the SEC filed an action against ten Argentinians, four of whom had opened
accounts at Scottsdale (“Tavella”). That complaint alleged that the defendants had submitted
false documentation to accompany their securities deposit checklist at Scottsdale, and sold
millions of shares into the public markets without registration in violation of Section 5. The
defendants claimed that they had purchased their shares from former shareholders, but the former

shareholders had already sold their shares years before. Thus, the transactions in which the
defendants claimed that they had acquired the shares were a sham.”

18 SEC v. Ruettiger, No. 2:11-cv-2011 (D. Nev. filed Dec. 16, 2011), available at https://www.SEC.gov/litigation/
complaints/2011/comp22198.pdf.

¥ Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 195-99; SEC v. Carrillo Huettel, No. 13 Civ. 1735 (SD.N.Y. filed Mar. 15, 2013), available at
hitps://www.SEC.gov/litigation/complaints/2013/comp-pr2013-39.pdf.

 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 185-192; SEC v. Gibraltar Global Sec., Inc., No. 13 Civ. 2575 (SD.N.Y. filed Apr. 18, 2013),
available at https:/www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/2013/comp22683.pdf.

! Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1912-13.
2 Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 727.

B SEC v. Tavella, No. 13-cv-4609 (S.DN.Y. filed July 3, 2013), available at https://www.SEC.gov/litigation/
complaints/2013/comp-pr2013-122.pdf.
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These regulatory actions should have caused the Firm to take special care when dealing
with FFIs, and to revise its procedures to focus on potential sham transactions and the use of
nominees. The Firm did not. Its main reaction to Rueffiger was to eliminate the branch office
involved in the case. Cruz believed that the misconduct identified in the Gibraltar cases was
“isolated.” Scottsdale’s current president, Diekmann, who was the head of the Rule 144 team
when the Tavella complaint was filed, testified that he could not remember if the Firm conducted
any investigation of the four Argentinians named in the Tavella complaint who had Scottsdale
accounts.” In Diekmann’s view it was “just impossible to know that there was somebody else
behind this.”*® Cruz similarly said, “[I]t’s almost impossible to detect these nominees, that
they’re going to be ... misrepresenting the—you know, the true identity of these pemcvns.”IT
Although the Firm changed some procedures as a result of Tavella (it would not accept more
than 9.9% of a security at any one time from its customers and it instituted a stock watch list to
monitor trading and promotions), Diekmann could not remember doing anything different to
address the problem of nominees.”

(b) Respondents’ Arguments Minimizing Significance Are
Rejected :

In their post-hearing brief, Respondents argue that the SEC complaints are not relevant
because they were classic pump-and-dump cases, and no charge is made here that the
transactions at issue were part of a pump-and-dump fraud. It is not necessary, however, to prove
that fraud occurred in order to conclude that Respondents failed to perform their gatekeeping
duty adequately. The focus here is on Respondents’ failure (i) to recognize as a threshold matter
that the transactions lacked a legal underpinning, and (ii) to respond appropriately to an
accumulation of red flags and suspicious circumstances, either conducting further investigation
to make sure an exemption existed or declining to sell the securities.

Respondents also claim that references in the prior complaints to nominees were
“peripheral.”zg To the contrary, the use of nominees was critical to facilitating the fraud and
manipulation charged in those cases. We reject Respondents’ attempt to brush aside the SEC
complaints.

Cruz took a different approach at the hearing to minimizing the significance of the SEC
complaints, which we also reject. He insisted on a benign definition of the term “nominee™ to
mean only someone designated to act on behalf of another. He declined to view the Ruettiger
complaint as raising a concern about the use of nominees. He said, I wasn’t sure if this is a

4 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 219.

% Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 732-33.
* Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 732.

*" Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 213-14.

* Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 733-34.

* Resp. PH Br. 36-37.
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situation where the—the nominees here that are being listed were purposely hiding their identity.
It could be, but ... that just was not my takeaway when I was looking at this ... Complaint.™"
When asked whether the allegation of “fake nominee entities” gave him pause, Cruz responded,
“I have no idea what fake — I mean, if it’s an entity — I mean, if it — I don’t know what they mean
by ‘fake. 2! Cruz refused to admit that the complaint in Rueftiger put him on notice of the
possibility of nominees hiding the actual true beneficial owner of securities. He testified, “I
would say this is probably not a case that gave me a great concern about the nominee issue, per
se .... There might be a nominee issue in there. I guess I don’t know the context of that.”*

We find Cruz’s refusal to acknowledge the plain import of the SEC’s allegations in
Ruettiger and the other complaints disingenuous. Even Respondents’ expert agreed that
Scottsdale was on notice that its customers could be nominees for beneficial owners as of the
relevant period in this case.”

(c) Later Actions Confirm Risk Of Sham Transactions And
Nominees

The risky nature of Scottsdale’s Rule 144 business with FFIs became undeniable in the
summer of 2014, when the SEC and criminal authorities initiated two new proceedings charging
that certain Scottsdale customers and others had used sham transactions and nominees to sell
penny stocks unlawfully without registration. These proceedings were brought based on
extensive evidence gathered through the use of undercover agents, cooperating witnesses, and
recorded conversations. The allegations appeared well founded, and they finally caused
Scottsdale and CSCT to react.

The SEC filed a complaint on July 11, 2014 (“4Amogear™), charging five individuals with
using nominee accounts in FFI trading to conceal beneficial ownership and facilitate a pump-
and-dump scheme. The SEC alleged that Titan had agreed to assist in the scheme and that
Alpine, the clearing firm, was involved in readying shares for trading in connection with the
scheme. In reaction to Amogear, Scottsdale froze its FFI trading for a couple of months.**

~ On September 8, 2014, prosecutors filed an indictment in federal district court in New
York (“Bandfield”) that charged Titan, Unicorn, and several individuals with whom Scottsdale
and CSCT did business with securities fraud, tax fraud, and a money-laundering conspiracy.
Those individuals included the following persons, who were also involved in the transactions at
issue here: Cem (“Jimmy™) Can at Unicorn; Kelvin Leach and Rohn Knowles at Titan; and
Robert Bandfield and Andrew Godfrey, who purported to represent customers of Montage,

% Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 191.

! Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 192.

2 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 184.

33 Hearing Tr. (Menchel) 2488-89.

* Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 705-12; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 204-08; CX-250.
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Unicorn, and Titan and appeared in connection with numerous sub-accounts and sub-sub-
accounts at Scottsdale. According to the indictment, Robert Bandfield claimed in a recorded
conversation that he had created Titan and more than 5000 sham companies. In that
conversation, he explained how reporting requirements could be circumvented and beneficial
ownership concealed by using nominees.** After the indictment was unsealed and became public,
CSCT’s business substantially diminished.>®

b. John Hurry

Indirectly, through a trust and a holding company, John Hurry and his wife, Justine
Hurry, own Scottsdale.’” From the Firm’s inception in 2002 until December 2012, Respondent
Hurry was a registered representative, among other roles.’® John Hurry again registered with the
Firm in October 2014, and remains registered today.* Hurry admitted in his Answer to the
Complaint that he has been the Firm’s director since 2002. However, at the hearing, he claimed
that he first became a director of Scottsdale in January 2013. Justine Hurry became its second
director in May 2013.*

Scottsdale has been highly profitable for Hurry and his wife. According to the Annual
Audited Report Form for Scottsdale during the year beginning July 1, 2013, and ending June 30,
2014, the Firm paid $6,222,550 in directors’ compensation. Since John and Justine Hurry were
the Firm’s only directors, this expense presumably was paid to them. *! The Firm paid other

% CX-244; CX-226; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 224-30; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1725-26, 1781.
% Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 237-38; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1529-30.

37 CX-1, at 7-9; CX-5; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 81-82.

B4, 811,

**CX-15, at4-5.

%0 CX-1, at 3-9 (showing the Firm’s direct owners and directors); CX-17, at 1. In his Answer, Hurry admitted that he
had been a director of Scottsdale since 2002. Answer § 16. At the hearing, however, Hurry denied that he had been a
director of Scottsdale before January 2013. He did so despite the fact that his signature appeared over the
designation “sole director” in a December 2012 document authorizing the creation of the Firm's Management
Committee. At the hearing, he claimed that the designation as sole director was a typographical error and that he was
acting president prior to January 2013, not sole director. CX-3; Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1306-09. Cruz testified as to the
December 2012 document that Hurry had established the Firm’s Management Committee in his capacity as director
of the Firm. Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 74-76.

The conflict between the Answer and Hurry’s testimony is mnexplicable. We find the conflict between Hurry’s
testimony and the Firm’s record of the creation of the Management Committee disturbing, because it reflects a lack
of transparency and accountability. We find the typographical error explanation with regard to something as
important as corporate authority to designate the responsibilities of senior management—particularly in a simple
one-page document—not credible. There is no explanation for the conflict between Hurry’s testimony that he was
not a director of the Firm in December 2012 and Cruz’s testimony that he was. The conflict in the evidence on this
point diminishes Hurry's credibility.

“ RX-42, at 7, 11. When Cruz officially became Scottsdale’s president in March 2014, it was by unanimous consent
of the Board of Directors, John and Justine Hurry. CX-4.



compensation of $1,665,574 and professional and consulting fees of $1,138,090. When these
payments and other expenses were subtracted from the Firm’s gross profit of $11,569,817, the
Firm reported net income of $1,446,655. Because Scottsdale is an S corporation, this income -
flowed through to the shareholders. In the next year, ending June 30, 2015, although the Firm
reported only $589 in net income, the Firm paid directors’ compensation of $3,255,200.‘12

During the relevant period, Respondent Hurry also was the indirect owner of Scottsdale’s
clearing firm, Alpine, which is located in Salt Lake City, Utah. Hurry has been its director since
March 2011,* and has been registered with Alpine since May 15, 2015.4

In 2013, Hurry established CSCT, the Cayman Islands broker-dealer through which the
securities at issue were deposited at Scottsdale.” Hurry owns CSCT, and, as more fully
discussed below, he made decisions, both large and small, about how it conducted its business.*’
Despite the highly specialized nature of CSCT’s business, Hurry hired Gregory Ruzicka—an
out-of-work California real estate attorney who had no prior experience in the securities broker-
dealer industry, much less in the specialized business of liquidating microcap securities—to run
CSCT.* Ruzicka went down to the Cayman Islands in October 2013 to take on his CSCT
duties.” Hurry then monitored Ruzicka’s activities almost daily, right down to his cigarette
breaks, and visited the Cayman Islands at least monthly.*

Although Hurry attempted to conceal the extent of his involvement in CSCT’s business,
he admits that he spoke with the three CSCT customers involved in this case (Montage, Titan,
and Unicorn), and that he personally visited two of them, Montage in Panama and Unicorn in
Belize.”! He claims that he did not solicit business for CSCT, but, as discussed below, that claim
is not credible.

2 RX-42, at 27. See also the Firm’s FOCUS Reports for 2013-Q4, 2014-Q1, 2014-Q2, 2015-Q3, 2015-Q4, and
2016-Q-1, and the summary of them created by Enforcement. CX-6 through CX-10.

“ CX-15,at 3, 11; CX-18.
“ Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1307.
“ Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1329; Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1117-18; CX-29.
46 CX-178, at 40-41.
4T Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1333-35.

* Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1631; CX-178, at 13-24. Ruzicka had limited experience in the early 1980s with intrastate
real estate limited partnership offerings. In that context, he handled post-foreclosure unlawful detainers, rehef from
automatic bankruptcey stays, and receiverships on commercial properties. CX-178, at 15-18. ;

B X178, at 20.
% Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1437-40, CX-178, at 138-41, 151-52; CX-132; CX-133.
5! Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1406-08, 1412-14, 1421-22.

16



That Hurry was in charge was obvious to his employees and to CSCT customers. Ruzicka
referred to him as “the big boss.”” As noted below, one of the persons at Scottsdale who
approved CSCT to become a Scottsdale customer did not even consider rejecting CSCT’s
application because he knew that Hurry had brought CSCT to the Firm.>® Similarly, Ruzicka said
that CSCT never considered using any broker-dealer except Scottsdale because of Hurry.* As
Hurry acknowledged, customers also sought direct contact with him because he is “highest on
the totem pole.””

Respondent Hurry thus owns and controls all three firms involved in the transactions at
issue in this proceeding—Scottsdale, Alpine, and CSCT. In fact, the three firms were almost a
self-contained system for processing and distributing microcap securities. CSCT did all its
business through Scottsdale,*® and Scottsdale in turn did all its business with Alpine.*” Alpine’s
current CEO described Alpine as a small “boutique” clearing firm with a focus on the kind of
business brought to it by CSCT.*® No independent third party was involved in preparing,
approving, or clearing the deposits of stock certificates by CSCT at Scottsdale for resale.

(s Timothy DiBlasi

DiBlasi first entered the securities industry in 2002. From December 2002 through March
2012, he was a compliance analyst at First Investors Corporation in New Jersey. DiBlasi has
been associated with Scottsdale since April 2012, In June 2012, he became the Firm’s anti-
money laundering chief officer (“AMLCO™). In October 2013, shortly before the events at issue,
DiBlasi became the Firm’s CCO, and he remains the Firm’s CCO today. Prior to joining the
Firm, DiBlasi had limited experience in microcap securities, and he had not handled the type of
restricted stock deposits that are the bulk of Scottsdale’s business.”

32 CX-240; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 1764-65.

L Hearing Tr. (Noiman) 1079, 1103, 1105-06, 1117-18. See also CX-29, at 10, 25 (forms to establish CSCT as a
Scottsdale customer listed Hurry as referral or source of the business ).

3 CX-178, at 108.
% Hearing Tr. (Hurry) 1432.

% Ruzicka testified that CSCT never considered using a firm other than Scottsdale because of Hurry. CX-178, at
108.

57 Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 143, 306, 382; Hearing Tr. (Diekmann) 759; Hearing Tr. (D’Mura) 2293. The person Hurry
hired to run CSCT, Gregory Ruzicka, described CSCT as an “adjunct” of Hurry’s operations at Scottsdale. CX-178,
at 34,

% Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2342-43. Alpine did do business with other FFIs in addition to CSCT during the relevant
period. Hearing Tr. (Frankel) 2343.

* Hearing Tr. (DiBlasi) 1919-21; Hearing Tr. (Cruz) 122; CX-19.
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d. Michael Cruz

Cruz entered the securities business in 1994, when he began working at a San Francisco
investment banking firm on underwritings, asset-backed securities, and private placements. After
approximately six years, he joined FINRA’s predecessor, NASD, starting in its San Francisco
office as a cause examiner and then moving to New York as a cycle examiner. He then took a job
with Citigroup Smith Barney in their central risk group, reporting to the General Counsel and
CCO. Subsequently, he moved with his family to Arizona and passed the bar there. In Arizona,
he fir